Epidemiology of asthma drug use in children, adolescents and young adults in Norway

Øystein Karlstad



Division of Epidemiology Department of Pharmacoepidemiology



UNIVERSITY OF OSLO Faculty of Medicine

2011

© Øystein Karlstad, 2011

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo No. 1229

ISBN 978-82-8264-322-1

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Inger Sandved Anfinsen. Printed in Norway: AIT Oslo AS.

Produced in co-operation with Unipub. The thesis is produced by Unipub merely in connection with the thesis defence. Kindly direct all inquiries regarding the thesis to the copyright holder or the unit which grants the doctorate.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACK | NOWLEDGEMENTSI |
|-------|---|
| SUM | MARYIII |
| LIST | OF PAPERSV |
| ABB | REVIATIONSVI |
| 1 1 | BACKGROUND1 |
| 1.1 | General introduction |
| 1.2 | Asthma |
| 1.2.1 | Definition, diagnosis and etiology |
| 1.2.2 | Measuring asthma in epidemiological studies |
| 1.2.3 | Occurrence of asthma in the population |
| 1.2.4 | Comorbidities of asthma7 |
| 1.3 | Treatment of asthma |
| 1.3.1 | <i>Guidelines for management of asthma7</i> |
| 1.3.2 | Asthma drugs |
| 1.3.3 | Reimbursement scheme for drugs9 |
| 1.3.4 | Occurrence of asthma drug use in the population10 |
| 2 | AIMS OF THE STUDIES |
| 3 I | MATERIALS AND METHODS13 |
| 3.1 | Sources of data |
| 3.1.1 | Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD)13 |
| 3.1.2 | Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa)14 |
| 3.1.3 | Youth Health Surveys (YHS)14 |
| 3.1.4 | Population and Housing Census (PHC)15 |
| 3.1.5 | Central Population Register (CPR)15 |
| 3.2 | Definition of asthma drug use and asthma16 |
| 3.3 | Study populations |
| 3.4 | Study design |
| 3.5 | Outcome variables |
| 3.6 | Strata and independent variables |
| 3.7 | Statistical analyses/methods |
| 3.8 | Ethical considerations |

| 4 | SYNOPSIS OF PAPERS | |
|-------|--|----|
| 4.1 | Paper I | |
| 4.2 | Paper II | |
| 4.3 | Paper III | |
| 4.4 | Paper IV | |
| 5 | DISCUSSION | |
| 5.1 | General discussion | |
| 5.1.1 | Use of asthma drugs | 33 |
| 5.1.2 | 2 Type of asthma drugs used | |
| 5.1.3 | 8 Reported asthma drug use compared to prescription data | |
| 5.1.4 | Asthma drug use as a proxy measure for asthma | |
| 5.1.5 | 5 Comorbidities of asthma | |
| 5.2 | Methodological considerations | |
| 5.2.1 | Selection bias | |
| 5.2.2 | 2 Information bias | 43 |
| 5.2.3 | 3 Confounding | 44 |
| 6 | CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES | 45 |
| 7 | REFERENCES | |
| PAP | PERS I-IV | |

APPENDICES

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The studies presented in this thesis were carried out at the Department of Pharmacoepidemiology, Norwegian Institute of Public Health.

I would like to express my most sincere thanks to my main supervisor, Kari Furu, for the many hours of stimulating discussions and for her support. Kari has encouraged me to work independently, and at the same time guided me through the research process. This project would not have been possible without Kari's optimism and patience with me.

My thanks also go to the other supervisors, who with their complementary professional skills has made these years interesting and pleasant. Svetlana Skurtveit introduced me to the field of pharmacoepidemiology, giving inspiring lectures during my last year of pharmacy studies. Svetlana's support of young researchers is commendable. Aage Tverdal has shared his vast experience from the field of epidemiology, and has given me valuable statistical guidance. Aage has always been available for discussions of epidemiologic issues, or the latest football results. I thank Per Nafstad (Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo and the Department of Chronic Diseases, Institute of Public Health) for the many interesting and exciting discussions on the complexities of asthma epidemiology. I would also like to thank my co-authors Wenche Nystad and Siri Eldevik Håberg (Department of Chronic Diseases, Institute of Public Health) and Stephanie London (from the American institution NIH/NIEHS), for interesting discussions during our collaboration on one of the papers.

I want to express my gratitude for the excellent working conditions provided by the Institute of Public Health and the Department of Pharmacoepidemiology. My colleagues have given me valuable input and support. I have enjoyed the pleasant atmosphere during the many social gatherings, conferences and coffee breaks. Thanks to Marit Rønning (previously leader of the department) for the way she has led the department and provided an inspiring working environment. Thanks also to Berit Olsen, Siv Gald Ullereng and Tove Granum for helping with practical stuff, and to Randi Selmer for reading the thesis.

The studies of this thesis was part of the project "The epidemiology of prescription drug use: A record-linkage study in Norway", and I am grateful for being funded by the Research Council of Norway and the Institute of Public Health. I am also grateful for being granted access to data from surveys and registers, and would like to thank the participants and data providers.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents and my sister Kristin, for encouragement throughout this period. Thanks for never putting any pressure on me regarding my education, and for economic and practical support throughout my education.

Øystein Karlstad, October 2011

SUMMARY

Background

Asthma is one of the most common chronic diseases among children, adolescents and young adults. The use of drugs to treat asthma has not been widely investigated in the Norwegian population and there has been a lack of longitudinal data. Most studies have been conducted in confined age groups and geographic regions. The occurrence of additional health problems in the young population with asthma has important implications for the management of asthma and needs investigation. Asthma is a clinical diagnosis that is not easily captured in population-based studies and there is no agreement on a gold standard for measuring asthma in epidemiology. Prescription data on asthma drug use may be a useful proxy measure for identifying individuals with current asthma in the population.

Objectives

The main objectives of this thesis were to study issues related to asthma in the Norwegian population of children, adolescents and young adults. Three areas have been studied: Asthma drug use, asthma drug use as a proxy measure of asthma, and selected additional diseases and drug treatments occurring in individuals with asthma.

Materials and methods

This thesis rests on data from population-based databases and questionnaires: 1) The Norwegian Prescription Database, 2) The Norwegian Mother and Child cohort study questionnaire for seven years old participants, 3) The Youth Health Surveys in five counties, 4) The Population and Housing Census from 2001, and 5) The Central Population Register. Data on filled prescriptions from the Norwegian Prescription Database is the central source for information and provided the outcome variables in all papers of this thesis.

Main findings

Mother-reported use of asthma drugs in children had high validity, compared to prescription data of asthma drug use. Furthermore, the prescription data on asthma drugs corresponded well with maternal reports of current physician-diagnosed asthma, and few individuals with no reported asthma had filled prescriptions. Filled prescriptions were used as a proxy measure in the other papers in this thesis to identify individuals with current asthma in the study populations.

The prevalence and incidence of asthma drug use in the Norwegian population 2-29 years old was highest in preschool children and lowest in young adults. Males had higher levels than females at a young age, but this changed from about 15 years of age to higher levels in females. The persistence to asthma drugs over time was relatively low, with less than half of asthma drug users receiving drugs in three consecutive years. The type of asthma drugs used varied substantially by age but not by gender, and there were indications of suboptimal pharmacotherapy.

The occurrence of chronic diseases in individuals with asthma was assessed by utilizing diagnostic codes provided by physician on reimbursed prescriptions. Several diseases occurred more frequently in children, adolescents and young adults with asthma than in the Norwegian general population. A majority of the asthma population had one of the nine comorbid diseases examined, while few had more than one of the comorbidities. In another study, young adults with asthma were at an increased risk for initiating use of hypnotic drugs. The risk was highest among individuals who recently had received asthma drugs, indicating that they had currently active asthma disease.

Conclusions

The findings in this thesis indicate that prescription data may serve as a proxy for current asthma in the population. It is important to carefully consider the length of the capture period for prescription data and possible overlapping conditions treated with the same drugs in different age groups. The relatively low persistence to asthma drug use may reflect the variability of asthma within and between patients, and illustrate the challenges encountered in defining asthma in epidemiologic studies. Several diseases and drug treatments occurred more frequently in the asthma population. The presence of comorbidities may influence and complicate several aspects of asthma and both the causes and consequences of comorbidities need further investigation.

IV

LIST OF PAPERS

The thesis is base on the following papers:

- Furu K, Karlstad Ø, Skurtveit S, Håberg SE, Nafstad P, London SJ, Nystad W. High validity of mother-reported use of antiasthmatics among children: a comparison with a population-based prescription database. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 2011;64:878-84. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.10.014
- II. Karlstad Ø, Nafstad P, Tverdal A, Skurtveit S, Furu K. Prevalence, incidence and persistence of anti-asthma medication use in 2- to 29-year-olds: a nationwide prescription study. European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology 2010;66:399-406. doi:10.1007/s00228-009-0749-x
- III. Karlstad, Ø, Tverdal, A, Skurtveit, S, Nafstad, P, Furu, K. A prospective study of asthma and subsequent use of hypnotics in young adults. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety 2011;20:370-7. doi:10.1002/pds.2101
- IV. Karlstad Ø, Nafstad P, Tverdal A, Skurtveit S, Furu K. Comorbidities in an asthma population 8-29 years old - a study from the Norwegian Prescription Database. Manuscript accepted for publication in Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety, July 2011.

The papers will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

Paper I has been reprinted with permission from Elsevier. Paper II has been reprinted with permission from Springer Science+Business Media. Paper III has been reprinted with permission from John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

ABBREVIATIONS

| ADHD | Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder |
|-------------|--|
| ATC | Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification system |
| CI | Confidence interval 95% |
| COPD | Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease |
| CPR | The Central Population Register |
| ECRHS | The European Community Respiratory Health Survey |
| FDC | Fixed dose combinations of β_2 -agonists and corticosteroids, |
| | ATC code R03AK |
| GORD | Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease |
| HSCL-10 | Hopkins Symptom Check List |
| IBA | Inhaled $\beta_2\text{-agonists}, R03AC$ (includes both SABA and LABA) |
| ICD-10 | The International Classification of Diseases, version 10 |
| ICPC-2 | The International Classification of Primary Care, version 2 |
| ICS | Inhaled corticosteroids, ATC code R03BA |
| IRR | Incidence rate ratio |
| ISAAC | The International Study of Asthma and Allergy in Children |
| LABA | long-acting β_2 -agonists, ATC code R03AC |
| LTRA | Leukotriene receptor antagonists, ATC code R03DC |
| MoBa | The Norwegian Mother and Child cohort study |
| NorPD | The Norwegian Prescription Database |
| РНС | The Population and Housing Census |
| RCT | randomized controlled trial |
| SABA | Short-acting β_2 -agonists, ATC code R03AC |
| SMR | Standardized Morbidity Ratio |
| YHS | The Youth Health Surveys |
| Z-hypnotics | Benzodiazepine related hypnotics, ATC code N05CF |

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 General introduction

Epidemiology is defined in several ways but a common definition is the study of the distribution and determinants of disease or illnesses in populations. Alternatively, it can be defined as the study of the distribution of health-related states and events in populations, thus also encompassing positive outcomes and physiologic states as well as diseases and illnesses (1). *Pharmacoepidemiology* is a branch under epidemiology and has been defined as "the study of the use of and the effects of drugs in large numbers of people" (2). It applies the methods of epidemiology on the content area of clinical pharmacology (the effect of drugs in humans) and aims to describe, explain and predict use and effects of drugs in a defined time, space and population. The major application area for pharmacoepidemiological principles is in post-marketing studies of drugs, where its main asset compared to the pre-marketing randomized controlled trials (RCTs) is the study size and "real life" setting. It may provide new information about rare adverse events or supplement information from RCTs about patients groups that have not been studied in RCTs such as children and pregnant women.

The increased availability of computerized databases containing medical care data, e.g. prescription data, has facilitated analyses of patient-level drug effects on a population-based scale. Such databases have been available and used for pharmacoepidemiological research in North America since the 1980s and included claims data used for reimbursement of health care costs (2). Databases have also been available in Europe, where some databases were developed specifically for research purposes. From January 2004, a research database containing prescription data covering the entire Norwegian population has been available, the Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD) (3, 4). Before 2004, information about drug use in the entire Norwegian population was only available as sales statistics from pharmacies and wholesalers, i.e. not on an individual level. Therefore, NorPD gives opportunities to study patterns, determinants and consequences of drug use in the population. Furthermore, by using the unique person identity number assigned to all individuals living in Norway, information relevant to the study of drug use may be linked from other health registers, population surveys and biobanks (4).

1

This thesis focuses on aspects of the epidemiology of asthma drug use, and data from NorPD is the central source of information throughout. The field of pharmacoepidemiology is quite a new research field in Norway and very few population-based observational studies on the use of asthma drugs have been conducted. Inferences about the epidemiology of asthma disease may also be made from studies of asthma drug use, because the asthma drug treatment is intimately linked to asthma. Particularly in school-aged children, adolescents and young adults, there are few overlapping diseases that are treated with asthma drugs. There is some diagnostic and therapeutic overlap with Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in older adults and the studies in this thesis were confined to the population under 30 years of age. Diagnosis of asthma in preschool children is difficult due to unspecific symptoms but this group of children was also studied. There are some advantages of using NorPD data when studying a disease as varied in time, space and within patients as asthma; the data is routinely collected and updated regularly, and covers all age groups and geographical regions continuously. However, issues concerning definition and classification of asthma encountered in epidemiologic asthma research are still present, and these issues are discussed briefly in the following chapters.

1.2 Asthma

1.2.1 Definition, diagnosis and etiology

Asthma is a chronic, inflammatory disease of the airways characterized by recurrent reversible airflow obstruction. The pathogenesis involves several cells and mediators but has not been fully understood, and the definition of asthma is based on the functional consequences of asthma. The airway inflammation is associated with bronchial hyperresponsiveness to a variety of stimuli and causes symptoms such as recurring episodes of wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness and cough (5). Asthma is a heterogeneous condition and there is great variability within and between individuals in terms of clinical expression, age at onset, and persistence of symptoms over time (6-9). Although it is regarded as a chronic disease, remission and later relapse of asthma during shorter or longer periods is a common feature. The persistence of asthma over time is correlated with the age of onset and there may be several phenotypes of asthma that have different risk factors, severity and long-term outcomes (7, 8, 10). There is increasing awareness of the heterogeneity of asthma but distinct subgroups based on objective criteria have not been identified yet (8, 11).

Asthma is a clinical diagnosis with no single characteristic or test that alone can identify asthma. The diagnosis is based on several components, such as symptom history, clinical examination, lung function tests, airway challenge tests, measurement of allergic status and exclusion of differential diagnoses. The clinical symptoms are variable and non-specific which complicates the diagnosis, particularly in preschoolers where asthma diagnosis is primarily one of exclusion of differential diagnoses (5, 12). Episodes of wheeze is common also in non-asthmatics at this age, e.g. during viral infections, while airflow limitation and inflammation is not easily assessed (12, 13). Middle-aged populations also have differential diagnoses, with COPD becoming a prominent cause of respiratory disease during the fifth decade of life (12).

The etiology of asthma is not fully understood and there is a multitude of suggested risk factors and triggers for asthma, some of which are both. These factors may be classified as host factors and environmental factors. Host factors include genetics, as well as obesity, gender and age. Environmental factors include allergens such as fungal spores and house dust mite, irritants, tobacco smoke and respiratory infections in early life. The "hygiene hypothesis" (14) and variants of this hypothesis suggested that exposure to certain allergens and infections in early life influence the development of the immune system and leads to reduced risk of allergic diseases including asthma. However, evidence supporting this hypothesis is inconclusive and other exposures in utero or early infancy have received increasing focus (15, 16).

1.2.2 Measuring asthma in epidemiological studies

An apparent increase in the occurrence of asthma has been reported during several decades in westernized countries while recent reports suggest that this increase has levelled off (17-20). It has been questioned whether the increase is due to a genuine increase in people suffering from asthma or if it is due to changes in how asthma is measured and perceived (10, 17, 19, 21, 22). Physicians may have changed their criteria for using the label asthma when patients present with respiratory symptoms, especially mild and transient cases (10, 17, 19, 21-25). Furthermore, an increased awareness in the general public and better access to care may have lead to increased perception of respiratory diseases. Regarding comparisons across countries, translation and interpretation of questionnaires on asthma symptoms can be challenging. For instance, the English word "wheeze" is often used in questionnaires but translation is difficult

(26). It has been observed in inter-country questionnaire studies that English-speaking countries report relatively high prevalence of asthma symptoms such as wheeze (27).

An inherent problem of asthma is that there is no single diagnostic test or criterion both necessary and sufficient to diagnose asthma. The diagnosis is based on factors not easily captured in epidemiological studies (e.g. patient history, clinical examination, exclusion of differential diagnosis), and it is therefore challenging to determine the occurrence of asthma in the population. There is currently no agreed upon gold standard for measuring asthma in epidemiological studies (28), and a multitude of definitions of asthma that are different in several domains have been used.

The *source of the data* in epidemiological studies of asthma may come from birth cohorts, census surveys in the general population, or registers such as hospital discharge databases, administrative data from physicians and prescription databases. These data sources have different *types of data* such as questionnaires, telephone or face-to-face interviews, or electronic records from databases. There are also differences in *who reports*, e.g. self-reports, parent-reports or physician reports. The *disease entity* that is measured is highly variable and includes asthma per se (no further specification), specific symptoms of asthma, confirmed doctor diagnosis, drug use for asthma, or physiologic measures (e.g. spirometry or bronchial hyperresponsiveness). However, physiologic measures are rarely available in large population studies. Furthermore, the *time frame* of the measure is important to consider in a time-varying disease such as asthma. The terms "ever" and "current" asthma are commonly used, the latter often operationalized as asthma during last 12 months.

Different combinations of these domains of asthma measures are used and has lead to a multitude of asthma definitions: One recent study reviewed the literature and found 60 different operational definitions in 122 papers on childhood asthma (29). The prevalence varied from 15% to 51% when some of the definitions were applied to an ongoing cohort study of 6-year old children (the children included were "at risk" of developing asthma, possibly explaining the high prevalence figures). Thus, the choice of outcome measure has high impact on the estimated occurrence of asthma and different measures do not identify the same set of individuals.

4

These issues may contribute to the substantial variability of reported occurrence of asthma in different studies and between countries. A possibly more pressing concern than determining the exact prevalence level in the population is to identify factors that cause asthma. Asthma is heterogeneous over time in the same individual, with remission and relapse of the clinical symptoms over shorter and longer periods (6, 30, 31). This makes it challenging to study risk factors, as the same individual may switch from being regarded as asthmatic to non-asthmatic depending on when the information is collected (28). Moreover, this variability may stem from both changes in exposure to triggers (e.g. seasonal allergy) and from factors inherent in the disease.

Self-reported asthma symptoms and/or doctor-diagnosed asthma are often used in population studies of asthma. However, this way of separating asthmatics from non-asthmatics is queried because of subjective symptom recognition and recall bias (21, 23, 24, 32). Questionnaire studies may also have problems with capturing seasonal variations in asthma, depending on the point in time questionnaires were filled in and the recall period used. Moreover, the generalizability of such studies to the general population may be compromised if the study is conducted only in a local population or narrow age groups.

An alternative method to identify asthmatics in the general population is to utilize data from administrative databases that routinely collect information on the use of health care services. One such data source is prescription registers. The drugs used for asthma are quite specifically used for asthma and the use of drugs to control asthma is a key component in asthma management (5). Thus, drug use could serve as a proxy measure of current asthma. International studies have shown the feasibility of drug prescriptions to identify individuals with asthma (33-36). Administrative registers like prescription databases have some advantages in that they include routinely collected data covering continuous time periods and are not collected on an ad hoc basis. The mandatory and automated capture of drug exposure and other variables diminishes selective reporting and participation, and facilitates the assessment of time sequence of events. Furthermore, these databases often have larger population size than studies dependent on the distribution of a large number of questionnaires. Among the limitations of administrative databases are that data are generated by a complex health care system and it may not always be transparent how the data come about. Furthermore, the collected information is not tailored to the research question.

1.2.3 Occurrence of asthma in the population

As delineated in the previous chapter, determining the occurrence of asthma in the population from published literature is difficult because of considerable variation in the applied definitions of asthma and representativeness of study populations. However, it is generally accepted that asthma is the most common chronic disease among children, and it is also common in the adolescent and adult population (37, 38). It has been estimated to affect as many as 300 million people globally (5).

Two major multi-center collaboration studies regarding asthma have been conducted in different countries: 1) The International Study of Asthma and Allergy in Children (ISAAC) among children and adolescents, and 2) the European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS) among adults. These studies use standardized questionnaires across countries and at several time points, and have reported large differences between countries in the asthma prevalence level and time trends (38-40). For instance, an ISAAC study reported prevalence of ever asthma ranging from about 2% to over 30%, with similar variations in reported current wheeze (40). The prevalence of asthma has been reported to be increasing globally during the last four decades of the 20th century (18). Some recent studies have reported a further increase while a leveling off or even a decrease in prevalence among children and young adults has been reported in some westernized countries (17, 18, 20, 40-42). This has also been observed in a repeat survey in Norway among 9-11 year olds, especially in girls (43).

There is a relatively large variability between Norwegian population-based studies in the reported prevalence of asthma between age groups, but also in the same age groups. In 4-5 year olds, the prevalence of current asthma has been reported to be 6.5% (44), while a cumulative prevalence of 8.7% and current prevalence of 7.7% has been reported (45). Among 10-year olds, a lifetime prevalence of 20% is reported (46), while current asthma has been reported in respectively 11% (46) and in 5.6% (47). Among adolescents, current asthma has been reported to be between 7 and 10 % (48) while in adults (15-70 years) a prevalence of ever doctor-diagnosed asthma has been reported in 7.6% of males and 10.7% of females (49). These studies were conducted during different time periods, and they were restricted to specific geographical areas and age groups, and they measured different disease entities and phrasings of questions, thus complicating comparisons.

1.2.4 Comorbidities of asthma

Comorbidity may be defined as the occurrence of one or more additional diseases in individuals who have an index disease (50). Asthma is a common disease in the young population and may co-occur (i.e. comorbid) with several diseases and illnesses. The extent and impact of comorbidities in asthmatics has received little attention compared to other chronic diseases like cardiovascular diseases and diabetes. This could in part be due to multimorbidity increasing with age while asthma is most prevalent in young populations (51). It is important to study comorbidities of asthma in the exploration of possible common causes or pathways for development of asthma and other diseases. Furthermore, the consequences of having comorbid diseases and its implications for asthma management are important to characterize. Comorbidities influence several aspects of asthma, such as detection and diagnosis, severity and changes in severity over time, and control of asthma symptoms (52-54). Additionally, the response to asthma therapy may be different and adherence to asthma therapy may decrease (55, 56). The use of health services is reported to be higher in asthmatics with comorbidities, and places an extra burden on the healthcare system and costs (57, 58). Identification and treatment of comorbidities is part of the core management of asthma, especially for more severe cases (5).

Associations between asthma and several conditions have been reported and some of the widely studied conditions are included in management guidelines for asthma. These include allergies, gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD), and bacterial and viral respiratory tract infections (5, 59-61). The presence of allergy is even part of the definition of some proposed asthma phenotypes (61, 62). Other conditions linked to asthma include depression, anxiety and sleep problems (63, 64).

1.3 Treatment of asthma

1.3.1 Guidelines for management of asthma

Several national and international guidelines and expert reports have been compiled to guide physicians in the assessment and management of asthma (5, 65-68). Broadly speaking, guidelines adopt the same approach to asthma management (69). One of the most cited guidelines is the one issued by the Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA), which was launched in 1993 in collaboration with the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute in the USA and the World Health Organization. The first report was issued in 1995 and was last updated in

2009 (5). Specific guidance for the management of asthma in preschool children has been published, due to issues concerning diagnosis and pharmacotherapy at this age (13, 68, 70).

Management of asthma includes several components such as monitoring of the disease, education of patients, control of environmental factors and pharmacotherapy. The medical treatment should follow a stepped care approach and the goal is to achieve and maintain control of asthma symptoms (5). Thus, step-up and down in therapy intensity by increasing doses and/or adding or changing type of asthma drugs is guided by the clinical control of asthma, while also taking into account the risk of adverse effects. The limited understanding of the etiology of asthma and identification of specific subgroups of asthma precludes the development of effective prevention strategies, and there is no affirmative evidence for interventions that modify the long-term course of asthma (5, 9, 16, 71-73).

1.3.2 Asthma drugs

The asthma drugs can broadly be classified as long-term controllers and quick-relief drugs but these categories are not mutually exclusive. The controllers have mainly anti-inflammatory effects while the relievers act mainly through bronchodilating effects (5, 74). Corticosteroids, with their multiplicity of anti-inflammatory properties, are the most effective controller drugs for the treatment of persistent asthma and have well-documented effect on clinical outcomes. Administration of glucocorticoids through inhalers is preferred over systemic administration as it gives higher local concentration of the drugs in the lung and lower risk of systemic side effects. Systemic administration is recommended for severe uncontrolled asthma and during acute exacerbations. Other controllers available in Norway are leukotriene receptor antagonists, long-acting β_2 -agonists (LABA), cromones, xanthine derivatives (theophylline) and anti-IgE therapy (omalizumab) (75). These drugs are mainly used as add-on therapy if patients fail to achieve asthma control with inhaled corticosteroids, although leukotriene receptor antagonists may be used as the only controller drug (5, 75). LABA should be used only in combination with other controllers (e.g. corticosteroids) due to risk of serious adverse events during monotherapy (5, 75, 76). LABA is available as fixed-dose combination inhalers with corticosteroids as well as single component inhalers.

Relievers should be used as needed to relieve bronchoconstriction and all patients should have these available. They are generally not recommended as monotherapy except for individuals with mild, intermittent asthma (5, 67, 75). The most widely used relievers are inhaled short-

acting β_2 -agonists (SABA). Other reliever drugs include anticholinergics and oral short-acting β_2 -agonists.

1.3.3 Reimbursement scheme for drugs

All drugs used for asthma are covered by the national tax-supported public health service which all Norwegian citizens have unrestricted access to (77). Reimbursement should be granted only if the patient has a chronic condition where long term drug treatment is needed. "Long term" is operationalized as needing more than 3 months of regular or intermittent treatment during one year. Patients pay 38% of drug costs but no more than 520 NOK per 3 months treatment (2010). Furthermore, there is a ceiling for patient co-payment per year for reimbursed drugs, physician visits, outpatient visits and some other healthcare expenses (1840 NOK in 2010). There is no co-payment for children less than 16 years of age (12 years of age before 2010 and 7 years of age before 2006).

The system for general reimbursement of drugs is a "positive list" system, based on a list of diseases or conditions for which specified drugs can be reimbursed. The Norwegian Medical Products Agency maintains the list of drugs and corresponding diagnosis that is eligible for general reimbursement (78). If a drug or diagnosis has not been granted general reimbursement, physicians may apply on behalf of the patient for individual reimbursement of the drug treatment.

Physicians write a specific reimbursement code on prescriptions deemed eligible for general reimbursement. Earlier, the reimbursement codes were numbers that corresponded to specific diseases or disease groups, and asthma and COPD had the same number code. From July 2006, asthma and COPD were differentiated in the reimbursement system by assigning them different number codes. From March 2008, all number codes were substituted with codes from two diagnostic coding systems: The International Classification of Diseases version 10 (ICD-10) and the International Classification of Primary Care version 2 (ICPC-2). After a one-year transition period, all filled prescriptions with reimbursement were required to have diagnostic codes from 3 March 2009.

1.3.4 Occurrence of asthma drug use in the population

There are few Norwegian studies of the extent of asthma drug use in the general population. One study conducted in four Norwegian counties among 15-16 year olds during 2000-2002 found the self-reported asthma drug use during the previous four weeks to be 5.8% in males 7.0% in females (79). An ECRHS study in 14 countries among 20-48 year olds studied the prevalence of self-reported asthma drug use during the previous 12 months (80). In the Norwegian sample, the prevalence was 3.6% in the first survey (1990-1994) and 7.7% in the second survey (1998-2003). A prescription database study of the entire Norwegian population under 19 years of age estimated the one-year prevalence of different categories of asthma drug use during 2004 (81). 9.1% of the population used any drug for obstructive airways disease (Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) code R03), while 5.4% of the population used inhaled asthma drugs (R03AC, R03AK, R03BA) that were reimbursed for use in asthma. The prevalence was 4.6% in girls and 6.2% in boys and the gender difference varied by age; a higher prevalence was observed in males during childhood, and shifted to a higher prevalence in females during adolescence.

The prevalence of asthma drug use in young adults has not been widely investigated in population-based studies. One Danish prescription study conducted in 1990-91 found a oneyear prevalence of asthma drug use in 20-44 year olds to be 3.6% (82). The aforementioned ECRHS study in 20-48 year olds reported overall prevalence in all 14 countries of 6.8% (1990-1994) and 9.5% (1998-2003) (80). In children and adolescents, studies have been conducted in several European countries and the reported prevalence was highly variable and ranged from 4% to 26% (36, 83-85). However, some studies included all drugs used for obstructive airways disease (ATC code R03). Some of these drug classes may be used for other indications that asthma, such as unspecific respiratory tract symptoms and infections, especially in preschool children. Thus, there may be significant heterogeneity in the populations included in these studies.

2 AIMS OF THE STUDIES

The main objectives of this thesis were to study issues related to asthma in the Norwegian population of children, adolescents and young adults. Three areas were studied:

- Asthma drug use.
- Asthma drug use as a proxy measure for asthma.
- Additional diseases and drug treatments occurring in individuals with asthma.

The specific research questions to answer were:

- 1. Examine the validity of maternal reports of asthma drug use (paper I).
- 2. Examine the validity of dispensed asthma drugs as a proxy measure of asthma (paper I).
- 3. Study the gender- and age-specific annual prevalence and incidence and the persistence to asthma drug use (paper II).
- 4. Explore the type of asthma drugs used (paper II).
- 5. Examine whether young adults with asthma are at higher risk of initiating use of hypnotics (paper III).
- 6. Examine whether specific chronic conditions and antimicrobial treatment occur more frequently in asthmatics than in the general population (paper IV).

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Sources of data

The papers in this thesis are based on data from two population registers, one health survey one birth cohort study, and one population census: The Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD) (paper I-IV); Data from a pilot questionnaire distributed to mothers of 7-year old children in the Norwegian Mother and Child (MoBa) cohort study (paper I); The Youth Health Surveys (YHS) from five Norwegian counties (paper III); The Population and Housing Census (PHC) conducted in 2001 (paper IV); The Central Population Register (CPR) (paper II, III and IV).

Data from NorPD served as the outcome variable in all papers and were linked at the individual level to the other data sources (paper I-IV). Data linkage was conducted by using the unique, encrypted 11-digit person identity number (PIN), assigned to all individuals residing in Norway (3, 86).

3.1.1 Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD)

From 1st January 2004, it was mandatory for all Norwegian pharmacies to send electronic data on all dispensed drugs to the NorPD (in Norwegian: *Reseptregisteret*). NorPD is run and owned by the Institute of Public Health (3, 4, 87). Included in the database are dispensed drugs with and without reimbursement from prescribers of any occupation and specialty. I.e. NorPD includes drugs prescribed by specialists in secondary or tertiary care for use in the ambulatory care setting. Thus, NorPD covers dispensed drugs for the entire noninstitutionalized population and data are stored on an individual patient level. Drugs delivered to nursing homes and to physicians for use in their own practice are included in NorPD as well, but these data are not on the patient level.

NorPD stores information about the *patient* (encrypted PIN, gender, age), the *prescriber* of the drug (encrypted prescriber identity number, specialty), the *pharmacy* dispensing the drug (pharmacy identifier, location) and information about the dispensed *drug* (date of dispensing, name and ATC code of drug, reimbursement status) (this is not an exhaustive variable list). All drugs in Norway are classified according to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical

classification system (ATC code) and these codes are used for identification of drugs and drug classes (88).

NorPD data were used in all papers (I-IV) of this thesis.

3.1.2 Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa)

The MoBa cohort study (in Norwegian: Den norske mor og barn-undersøkelsen) is a prospective population-based pregnancy cohort study conducted by the Norwegian Institute of Public Health and enrolled over 100,000 pregnancies during 1999-2008 (89, 90). Pregnant women from all over Norway were invited by mail to participate in connection with the routine ultrasound examination offered to all pregnant women at 17-18 weeks of gestation. A total of 38.5% of the women invited during 1999-2008 gave consent to participate (91). Mothers received three questionnaires during pregnancy while fathers received one. After birth, both mothers and fathers receive several questionnaires at specified ages of the child. Additional information about the MoBa study and questionnaires are available on the website of the Institute of Public Health (90). During March-June 2008 mothers of 3,394 children in MoBa who had reached 7 years of age received a pilot questionnaire, which included several questions regarding asthma and allergy (see questionnaire in appendix I).

The study in paper I rested on the pilot questionnaire.

3.1.3 Youth Health Surveys (YHS)

The population-based YHS (in Norwegian: *Ungdomsundersøkelsene*) were conducted during 2000-2005 in 6 of 19 Norwegian counties: Oslo 2000-2001; Hedmark 2001; Oppland 2002; Finnmark 2003; Nordland 2004; Troms 2002-2003 and 2005 (only in the main city Tromsø) (92). The YHS included questions on health, lifestyle, socioeconomic factors and living conditions (see questionnaire in appendix II). 10 years of school is compulsory in Norway and most students are 15-16 years of age at the time. All 10th grade students in each respective county were invited to fill in a self-administered questionnaire during two lessons in the spring term. A project assistant was present in each classroom to clear up possible misunderstandings and questionnaires were left at school to be completed by students not present. In Oslo, Oppland and Hedmark, questionnaires were sent to the home of those that did not respond during the course of the school year. In Troms and Finnmark, respectively

9.5% and 23% of the schools did not participate in the school-based survey and students received a postal questionnaire and one reminder instead. Both the mail survey and the school-based survey from these counties had lower participation rate than in the other counties (Troms 2002-2003; 81.7%, Finnmark 2003; 71.1%). The mean response rate in all six counties was 86.5%.

Paper III was based on the surveys conducted in five counties during 2000-2003 (15,436 individuals invited, 86% response rate).

3.1.4 Population and Housing Census (PHC)

The PHC (in Norwegian: *Folke- og boligtellingen*) consists of data from several administrative registers as well as data from a questionnaire sent to every family in Norway (93). The census has been conducted about every 10 years and it is mandatory to participate for all residents. The last census was conducted in 2001 and included all persons, also foreign citizens, considered resident in Norway on 3 November 2001 according to the Central Population Register (CPR).

Paper IV was based on the census conducted in 2001. Only variables from registers were utilized (encrypted PIN, date of birth and gender).

3.1.5 Central Population Register (CPR)

The CPR (in Norwegian: *Folkeregisteret*) is owned by the Norwegian Tax Administration while Statistics Norway maintain the register for research purposes. It includes continuously updated information about every person residing in Norway (94, 95). Information from the CPR used in the present thesis was the encrypted PIN and the date of death and emigration.

Aggregated data from CPR by gender and age groups on the number of people residing in Norway was retrieved from the website of Statistics Norway (paper II) (96). Individual level data files from CPR were used to determine if persons were alive (paper II-IV) and still residing in Norway (paper III and IV).

3.2 Definition of asthma drug use and asthma

The use of asthma drugs in the Norwegian population was examined in the present thesis by analyzing data on filled prescriptions from NorPD. In paper I, the congruence between asthma drug use as registered in NorPD and maternal reports of asthma drug use was examined. In paper II, the use of asthma drugs in the entire Norwegian population was examined by using NorPD data. As delineated in chapter 1.2.2, the use of asthma drugs is a core component in the management of asthma and may serve as a proxy measure of current, active asthma needing drug treatment. In paper II, the congruence of this proxy measure and maternally reported asthma was examined. In paper II-IV, the proxy measure was utilized to identify individuals with current asthma from the study populations.

The asthma drug classes to include in a proxy measure of asthma has been explored in a previous NorPD study among children and adolescents (81). In that study, inhaled asthma drugs were included: Short-acting (SABA) and long-acting (LABA) inhaled β_2 -agonists; inhaled corticosteroids (ICS); and fixed dose combinations of β_2 -agonists and corticosteroids (FDC). In paper I-IV of the present thesis, leukotriene receptor antagonists (LTRA) were also included in the proxy measure. LTRA has during the 2000s received increasing importance in asthma therapy, and may be used as the only controller drug instead of corticosteroids (5, 75). An increasing use of LTRA in Norway has been observed (87, 97). Thus, the most commonly used asthma drugs classes were included in the proxy and pooled together as one variable (see appendix IV for an overview of drug classes in ATC group R03 Obstructive airway diseases).

The asthma drug classes included in the proxy are the mainstay of asthma pharmacotherapy according to guidelines and treatment recommendations (5, 65, 67, 75). Other drugs registered in Norway with indication for use in asthma include anticholinergics, cromoglicic acid, xanthine derivatives (theophylline), anti-IgE therapy (omalizumab), and oral corticosteroids. Virtually all those who received these other asthma drug classes had also received at least one of the drugs in the proxy measure during the same year (paper II), i.e. these other asthma drugs were used as add-on therapy.

For paper II and IV, the definition of the proxy measure was further restricted by only including prescriptions with the specific reimbursement code for asthma. Thus, the reimbursement code was used as a substitute for diagnostic codes (see chapter 1.3.3 for details

about the reimbursement system). Except for these reimbursement codes, it is not mandatory for physicians to provide diagnostic information on prescriptions. Physicians may, together with the dosage information, provide information about the intended use of the drug and this is stored as a free text variable in NorPD.

3.3 Study populations

Table 1 summarizes the study populations and setting in paper I-IV.

| | Paper I | Paper II | Paper III | Paper IV |
|--|---|---|---|---|
| Study population source | MoBa pilot (birth cohort) | NorPD (prescription database) | YHS 2000-2003 (health survey) | NorPD ^a (prescription database) |
| Area covered | Norway | Norway | 5 of 19 counties | Norway |
| Participation rate | 61% ^b | Mandatory inclusion for all Norwegian residents | 86% [°] | Mandatory inclusion for all Norwegian residents |
| Indivduals invited/included | MoBa children over 7 years of age | Idividuals filling prescriptions on asthma drugs ^d | All students in 10th grade in each county | Idividuals filling prescriptions on asthma drugs ^d |
| Study design | Validity | Crossectional and cohort | Cohort | Crossectional |
| Study population included in analysis | n=2,056 | n=92,074 ^e | n=10,164 | n=37,060 ^f |
| Outcome measured in period | During 2007-2008 ⁹ | 2005-2007 | Janaury 2005 - July 2010 | 3 March 2009 - 2 March 2010 |
| age during outcome period (yrs) | 7-8 | 2-29 | 17-27 ^h | 8-29 |

Table 1: Study populations and setting

Abbreviations: MoBa, Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study; NorPD, Norwegian Prescription Database; PHC, Population and Housing Census; YHS, Youth Health Surveys.

^a The study population was identified from NorPD data for participants in the PHC conducted in 2001.

^b On pilot questionnaire.

^c 77% gave consent to data linkage.

^d Only prescriptions with reimbursement for asthma were included.

^e In 2007 (different study population in each 1-year cross-section).

^f n=1,239,533 in the standard population (all PHC participants 29 years or less).

⁹ During 1-year period prior to completion date of the MoBa questionnaire.

^h 15-17 years old in the year of YHS participation (2000-2003).

Paper I

The study population was from the MoBa pilot questionnaire distributed to 3,394 mothers of 7-year old children in MoBa. 2,056 respondents (61%) were included in the analysis of validity.

Paper II

The study population included all individuals aged 2-29 years in Norway during 2005-2007 (n~= 1.7 million) who had filled at least one prescription for asthma drugs according to NorPD (n= 92,074 in 2007). Only prescriptions with reimbursement codes for asthma were included. Asthma drugs included were those defined as a proxy measure of asthma, see chapter 3.2. In the persistence analysis, 115 individuals who died during 2005-2007 were excluded.

Paper III

Participants from the YHS conducted during 2000-2003 in five Norwegian counties were included. The surveys from 2004-2005 were excluded to avoid overlapping time periods with NorPD data from 2004 onwards. 15,436 individuals were invited to participate and 13,309 (86%) responded to the questionnaire. 11,947 (77%) gave consent to link data with other registers, signed the consent form and were registered with valid person identity number, participation year and county. From this study population 1,783 individuals were excluded (see Figure I in paper III for details) and 10,164 participants without prior use of hypnotics were included in analysis.

Paper IV

The *standard population* included all persons who participated in the PHC in 2001 who were 29 years or less in 2009. The *study population* consisted of current asthmatics that were identified in the standard population by using the proxy measure for current asthma (see chapter 3.2). Included were those who had filled prescriptions for an asthma drug at least once in the year before and at least once in the year after the index date (3 March 2009). Only prescriptions with reimbursement codes for asthma were included.

3.4 Study design

Paper I

Data on filled prescriptions for asthma drugs during one year in NorPD were compared to maternal reports on questionnaires from MoBa regarding: 1) asthma drug use during the previous year; 2) the presence of ever asthma, current asthma and asthma diagnosis. The MoBa questionnaire was distributed during March-June 2008 to children who had reached 7 years of age. The mothers reported the date of questionnaire completion but for those with missing completion date, the return date of the questionnaire minus 5 days was used. Data from NorPD were extracted for the one-year and the three-year period prior to the completion date. Non-respondents to the MoBa questionnaire were also linked to NorPD data to assess the proportion among responders and non-responders filling prescriptions for asthma drugs.

Paper II

Use of asthma drugs as registered in the NorPD during 2005-2007 was studied. A combination of study designs was used. Prevalence, incidence and types of drugs used were analyzed as annual cross-sections among 2-29 year olds. The size of the source population (the age-specific Norwegian population) and the study population (asthma drug users) was therefore different for each annual cross-section. Persistence to drug use was examined as a cohort study of all asthma drug users in 2005 (i.e. prevalent users) that were followed during 2006 and 2007.

Paper III

A cohort study of hypnotic use among YHS participants (2000-2003) was conducted by record-linkage to NorPD data (January 2004 - July 2010). NorPD data from 2004 was used to define of the main independent variable (asthma), while NorPD data from January 2005 - July 2010 was used as outcome variable (hypnotic use). 10,164 individuals at risk of initiating (i.e. incident) hypnotic use during the outcome period were studied.

Paper IV

This was a one-year cross-sectional study of the occurrence of comorbidities among asthmatics participating in the PHC 2001. NorPD data were linked with PHC data and asthmatics were identified by filled prescriptions on asthma drugs. The outcome variable (presence of comorbidity, yes/no) was defined from reimbursement codes on filled prescriptions (ICD-10 or ICPC-2 codes) that corresponded to selected comorbidities during a

one-year period. The rate of occurrence of each comorbidity in the asthma population was compared to that in the standard population (all participants in PHC).

3.5 Outcome variables

The outcomes measured in paper I-IV were all defined by filled prescriptions in NorPD (Table 2). In paper I, maternal reports on questionnaire were also used.

| Paper | Domain measured | Outcome measure | Definition | Variable type | |
|-------|-------------------------------|--|---|--|--------------|
| I | Asthma drug use and asthma | drug Sensitivity and | Filled prescription during a 1-year period ^a | Yes / no | |
| | | | Maternal-reported asthma drug use during previous year ^b | Yes / no | |
| | | specificty | specificty | Maternal-reported ever, current and physician-diagnosed asthma | 4 categories |
| II | Asthma drug use | Prevalence proportion | Filled prescription during calendar year | Yes / no | |
| | | Incidence proportion | Filled prescription during calendar year after a run-in period with no filled prescription ^c | Yes / no | |
| | | Persistence to treatment | Filled prescriptions in 3 consecutive calendar-years | Yes / no | |
| | | Drug types used | Filled prescription during calendar year | 4 categories | |
| 111 | | | Incidence proportion | Filled prescription during calendar year | Yes / no |
| | Hypnotic use | Incidence rate ratio | Number of filled prescriptions | Count | |
| | | Cumulative hazard | Time to event (filled prescription) | Continous | |
| IV | Comorbidity | Standardized Morbidity Ratio ^d | Filled prescription with specific diagnostic code during a 1-year period | Yes / no | |

Table 2: Summary of outcomes measured in paper I-IV.

^a During the 1-year period prior to the completion date of MoBa questionnaire. Also examined the 3-year period prior to the completion date.

^b Also examined reports on open-ended questions about names of specific asthma drugs used.

^c Filled prescription during calendar-year and no filled prescription in previous 3 calendar-years.

^d Calculated separately for nine chronic diseases and for antimicrobial treatment.

Paper I

Use of asthma drugs as recorded in NorPD was compared with maternal reports about asthma drug use and asthma disease on the MoBa questionnaire. Included asthma drugs from NorPD

are given in chapter 3.2. Measures of validity were sensitivity and specificity. Positive predictive value and negative predictive values were also calculated. The MoBa questionnaire is included in appendix I.

Validity of maternal reports of asthma:

Maternal reports of asthma drug use in the MoBa questionnaire was compared to filled prescriptions on asthma drugs recorded in NorPD (reference standard). Use of asthma drugs in MoBa was defined by answers from mothers to the question "has the child used spray, inhaler or other medications for asthma during the past year?" (yes/no). We examined the congruence between answers on this question and filled prescriptions in NorPD during the one-year and the three-year period prior to completion of the questionnaire. Maternal reports on open-ended questions about the name of asthma drugs used regularly or during attacks were also compared to NorPD data (salbutamol and fluticasone analyzed).

Validity of asthma drug prescriptions as a proxy for asthma:

Filled prescriptions for asthma drugs as a proxy measure of current asthma was compared to maternal reports of asthma disease in MoBa (reference standard). Asthma was defined in MoBa by mothers reporting on the question "has the child ever experienced any of the following long-lasting illnesses or health problems?". For each condition listed, the mothers ticked whether the child had ever experienced the condition, if the child still had the condition, and if a physician had verified it. Based on answers to these three questions we classified the participants into four mutually exclusive groups (see appendix III). NorPD data on prescriptions filled during the one-year and three-year period prior to completion of the MoBa questionnaire were used. Both children with and without filled prescriptions were included in the validity estimations.

Paper II

The outcome of interest was the use of any of the asthma drugs included in the proxy measure of current asthma, see chapter 3.2. Use of the asthma drugs was defined as filling prescriptions during 2005-2007. Four measures of drug use were calculated: two measures with the age-specific Norwegian population as denominator (prevalence and incidence proportions), and two measures with all prevalent asthma drug users during one year as denominator (persistence and type of asthma drug used).

21

Prevalence proportion:

Prevalence proportion was measured as a series of one-year cross-sections (2005-2007) where the nominator was individuals filling at least one prescription on asthma drugs during each year. The denominator was the gender- and age-specific Norwegian population in each year (midyear population). The prevalence proportion filling at least two prescriptions (on different dates) during the one-year periods was estimated as well.

Incidence proportion:

We estimated incidence proportion by counting new users in 2007. New users were persons with no filled prescriptions in 2004-2006 and with at least one prescription in 2007 (drug-free run-in period of 3 calendar years (98)). The denominator ("population at risk") was the gender- and age-specific Norwegian population as of 1 January 2007, minus individuals who had filled prescriptions during the previous 3-year period (2004–2006).

Persistence:

Persistence to treatment was assessed according to the minimum refill model (99). It was estimated as the proportion of the prevalent asthma drug users in 2005 being persistent to drug use the two subsequent years. The criterion for being categorized as "persistent" was: Filling at least one prescription in 2006 (1-year persistence), and at least one prescription in both 2006 and 2007 (2-year persistence).

Type of asthma drugs used:

Users of asthma drugs in each calendar year were classified by type of drug used. Individuals who received more than one type of asthma drug was assigned to the asthma drug group with the higher rank (i.e. groups were mutually exclusive): Inhaled β_2 -agonists (IBA), inhaled corticosteroids (ICS), Fixed dose combinations of β_2 -agonists and corticosteroids (FDC) and Leukotriene receptor antagonists (LTRA) (highest rank). The proportion of all prevalent users in each group was calculated.

Paper III

We studied initiation of hypnotic drugs use during January 2005–July 2010 among individuals without previous use of hypnotics (i.e. incident or new users). Hypnotic drugs were pooled together as one outcome variable and defined as: Benzodiazepines classified as hypnotics (ATC code N05CD), and the z-hypnotics zopiclone and zolpidem (N05CF). Three risk measures of the outcome were estimated.

Incidence proportion:

Incidence proportion was estimated as the proportion of the study population filling prescriptions during follow-up (dichotomous variable of 0 prescriptions versus 1 or more prescriptions).

Incidence rate ratio:

Incidence rate ratio was estimated with a count variable of number of prescriptions filled during follow-up. Recurring events were examined, i.e. individuals remained at risk of filling another prescription after their first prescription.

Cumulative hazard:

Cumulative hazard was estimated with all prescriptions filled on different dates included (multiple recurring events).

Paper IV

Diagnostic codes from reimbursed drug prescriptions registered in NorPD were used to define the outcome (comorbid diseases). The presence of a disease was defined as filling at least one reimbursed prescription with a diagnostic code during a 1-year period (confer chapter 1.3.3 for details on the reimbursement system). Nine chronic diseases were examined: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD, denoted "hyperkinetic disorder" in ICD-10 and ICPC-2), epilepsy, migraine, mental illness, cardiovascular disease, diabetes (type 1 and 2), autoimmune disorders, gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD) and allergy. See Table 1 in paper IV for details on diagnostic codes included. Outcome was measured by Standardized Morbidity Ratios (SMR).

To study the occurrence of antimicrobial treatment (normally not reimbursed), ATC codes on drugs dispensed were used instead of diagnostic codes. Antibacterials recommended in Norwegian guidelines(100) for use in upper and lower respiratory tract infections were included, as well as antivirals used for influenza virus infections. See Table 1 in paper IV for details on ATC codes included.

3.6 Strata and independent variables

Paper I

Stratified analysis was not performed but all children had turned 7 years of age the year before the MoBa questionnaires were distributed and completed.

Paper II

All four measures of asthma drug use were stratified by gender and one-year age groups. For presentation in tables, age groups were collapsed into five groups.

Paper III

Asthma was the main independent variable. In the YHS, participants were asked "have you, or have you had asthma" with answer alternatives yes or no. This information was combined with the proxy measure for current asthma, operationalized as filling at least one prescription on asthma drugs during 2004 (see chapter 3.2 for details). Hence, receiving asthma drugs in 2004 was used as a proxy measure of whether asthma was active (current) in the year prior to the start of follow-up. Individuals were classified into one of four asthma groups, see Figure 1 in paper III: 1) no asthma (reference group); 2) not active asthma; 3) active asthma recently developed; 4) still active asthma. Other independent variables that were adjusted for in incidence rate ratio estimation were self-reported on the YHS questionnaire: Age, gender, mental distress (Hopkins Symptom Check List (HSCL-10) mean score), eczema, smoking habits, alcohol consumption, and plans for education.

Paper IV

The proxy measure for current asthma (see chapter 3.2) was used to define the study population of current asthmatics and was compared to the general population. Results were stratified by gender and two age groups (8-19 years, 20-29 years).

3.7 Statistical analyses/methods

Data preparation and statistical analyses were performed by using Spss 14.0.1 and 17.0.1 and Stata SE 9.2 and 10.0 for Windows.

Paper I

95% confidence intervals were calculated for the validity measures by the continuitycorrected score interval method (101).

Paper II

Not applicable.

Paper III

The asthma groups were introduced as three dummy variables with the 'no asthma' group as reference in the incidence rate ratio and cumulative hazard estimation. *Incidence rate ratios* were estimated by negative binomial regression, which account for higher variance than expected in the Poisson model. In the adjusted model, mental distress (HSCL-10), eczema, education plans and gender were entered as dichotomous variables and smoking, alcohol consumption and age as continuous variables. *Cumulative hazard* estimates for asthma groups were constructed by using Anderson and Gill's method for defining time to event in recurrent events data, taking into account the dependency between recurring prescriptions filled by one individual (102).

Paper IV

The number of comorbidities occurring in the asthma population and in the general population was examined and presented as the proportion of the populations having respectively 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 or more comorbidities. Associations of asthma with specific comorbidities were examined by calculating Standardized Morbidity Ratios (SMR). Standard rates for 1-year age-specific groups in the general population were calculated and applied to the asthma population separately for males and females. SMRs were calculated with 95% confidence intervals from the Poisson distribution. The magnitude of the SMRs are not directly comparable between the different genders and age groups, because they are compared to different standard populations.

3.8 Ethical considerations

The studies were endorsed by the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics and data linkage was approved by The Norwegian Data Inspectorate. The Research Council of Norway funded this work (project number 175314/v50).
4 SYNOPSIS OF PAPERS

4.1 Paper I

Furu K, Karlstad Ø, Skurtveit S, Håberg SE, Nafstad P, London SJ, Nystad W. High validity of mother-reported use of antiasthmatics among children: a comparison with a population-based prescription database. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 2011;64:878-84.

Objectives

- To examine the validity of maternal reports of asthma drug use on a questionnaire from the Norwegian Mother and Child cohort study (MoBa), and
- 2. To examine the validity of dispensed asthma drugs in the Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD) as a proxy measure of asthma.

Materials and methods

Mothers of 2,056 7-year old children in MoBa responded to a pilot questionnaire (61% response rate). Data from NorPD was linked to both responders and non-responders of the questionnaire. NorPD data on dispensed asthma drugs served as reference standard for aim 1, while maternal reports of asthma in MoBa served as the reference standard for aim 2.

Results

• The one-year prevalence of having been dispensed asthma drugs in 2008 (NorPD) was 7.6% among responders and 7.9% among non-responders.

Aim 1:

- The sensitivity of the indication-specific MoBa question about *asthma drug use during the previous year* was 85%, compared to NorPD data on dispensed asthma drugs during same period (reference). The specificity was 97%.
- Among 61 children who had no dispensed drug in the previous year despite motherreported use, 52% had been dispensed drugs 1-3 years ago.
- Open-ended questions about *names of asthma drugs used* had lower sensitivity (salbutamol 72%; fluticasone 74%) and higher specificity (salbutamol 98%; fluticasone 99%).

Aim 2:

• *Current asthma* was reported in 6.5% of children while *current and physician-diagnosed asthma* was reported in 5.9% of children (MoBa).

- The sensitivity of dispensed asthma drugs during the previous year (NorPD) to identify children with *current and physician-diagnosed asthma* (MoBa) was 80%.
- The sensitivity was 55% for *current but not physician-diagnosed asthma*, and 18% for *asthma in the past*.
- Only 1.2% of children with *no reported asthma* had been dispensed asthma drugs in the preceding year.
- If the data extraction period for NorPD was extended from the previous year to previous three years, sensitivity increased and specificity decreased.

Conclusions

Mother-reported use of asthma drugs during the previous year among children was highly valid compared with records of dispensed drugs as reference standard. Prescription data on dispensed asthma drugs could be a useful proxy for identifying individuals with current asthma in the population.

4.2 Paper II

Karlstad Ø, Nafstad P, Tverdal A, Skurtveit S, Furu K. Prevalence, incidence and persistence of anti-asthma medication use in 2- to 29-year-olds: a nationwide prescription study. European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology 2010;66:399-406.

Objectives

To explore asthma drug use in the entire Norwegian population aged 2–29 years during 2005–2007 by examining: The gender- and age-specific annual prevalence and incidence of asthma drug use, and the proportion of asthma drug users persistent to treatment for 3 years, and the type of asthma drugs used.

Materials and methods

Data were retrieved from the Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD) for all individuals 2–29 years old who received asthma drugs with reimbursement for asthma during 2005–2007.

Results

Prevalence and incidence:

- The annual prevalence was relatively stable during 2005-2007.
- Annual prevalence in 2007 of receiving drugs *once* was 5.9% (males) and 5.0% (females), while prevalence of receiving drugs at least *twice* was 3.4% (males) and 2.7% (females).
- Incidence of receiving asthma drugs in 2007, with three calendar years of drug-free run-in period, was 1.5% in both males and females. Incidences increased to 2.3% and 1.7% when the run-in period was shortened to one and two years, respectively.
- For both genders, the general trend by age was a decrease from the highest levels in 2-year olds to lowest levels in 20-29 year olds. During adolescence, an increase was observed among females that was not observed in males.
- Males had higher prevalence and incidence levels in the youngest age groups but levels for females surpassed males at 14-16 years of age.

Persistence to treatment:

- Among individuals who received asthma drugs in 2005, 61% also received drug in 2006, while 45% received drug in both 2006 and 2007.
- 10% received drug in 2005 and 2007 without receiving drug in the intervening year (2006).

Type of asthma drug used:

• The type of asthma drug received was substantially different by age but not by gender.

- A high share of preschool children were on ICS treatment (69%), shifting gradually to high shares on FDC (42%) or IBA monotherapy (35%) in 20-29 year olds.
- The share of all asthma drug users who did not receive any asthma controller drug (ICS, FDC or LTRA) increased from 14% in preschoolers to 35% in 20-29 year olds.
- 39% of LABA users in 2007 did not receive any inhaled corticosteroids (ICS or FDC) during the three preceding calendar years. These individuals constituted 1.5% of all asthma drug users in 2007.

Conclusions

Annual prevalence of asthma drug use in 2-29 year olds was stable during 2005–2007. The gender- and age-specific profile of prevalence and incidence correspond well with studies of asthma prevalence and incidence. Fewer than half the individuals filled prescriptions regularly over a 3-year period. The type of asthma drugs used was substantially different by age, with a gradual shift from ICS treatment in preschoolers to FDC or IBA monotherapy in older age groups.

4.3 Paper III

Øystein Karlstad, Aage Tverdal, Svetlana Skurtveit, Per Nafstad and Kari Furu. A prospective study of asthma and subsequent use of hypnotics in young adults. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety 2011;20:370-7.

Objectives/

To investigate whether young adults with asthma are at higher risk of initiating use of hypnotics.

Materials and methods

10,164 (86% response rate) 15-17 year olds from the Youth Health Surveys (YHS) with no previous use of hypnotics were linked to the Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD). Four asthma groups were defined based on self-reported asthma (YHS) and asthma drug use (NorPD). The outcome was filling prescriptions on hypnotics during January 2005 – July 2010. Incidence proportions, Incidence rate ratios (IRR) and cumulative hazards were estimated. IRR was adjusted for potential confounders (illnesses, lifestyle and sociodemographic factors).

Results

- The incidence proportion was 6.1%, ranging from 5.7% in the no asthma group to 9.5% in active recently developed asthma group.
- The crude IRR was 1.35 (CI: 0.93–1.95) for not active asthma, 4.18 (1.83–9.55) for active recently developed asthma, and 1.63 (0.85–3.14) for still active asthma (no asthma group as reference).
- Adjusted IRR for active recently developed asthma group changed to 4.72 (2.07–10.75) while the other groups remained statistically not significant.
- Cumulative hazard functions were significantly different for the four groups, with highest hazard for the still active asthma group early on, but surpassed by the active recently developed asthma group after about 3 years of follow-up.
- Results were robust towards changes in study design and statistical methods.

Conclusions

In this prospective study of young adults in a general population setting, asthmatics had an increased risk of initiating hypnotic use. We observed a substantial differences in risk between asthma groups, with higher risk among asthmatics who recently received asthma drugs.

4.4 Paper IV

Karlstad Ø, Nafstad P, Tverdal A, Skurtveit S, Furu K. Comorbidities in an asthma population 8-29 years old - a study from the Norwegian Prescription Database. Manuscript accepted for publication in Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety, July 2011.

Objectives

To examine occurrence of chronic diseases and antimicrobial treatment (comorbidities) in an asthma population 8-29 years old, compared to the occurrence in the Norwegian population.

Materials and methods

The asthma population was identified by dispensed asthma drugs in the Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD). The occurrence of nine chronic diseases (comorbidities) was identified by received prescriptions with specific diagnostic codes (reimbursement codes) during one year: ADHD, epilepsy, migraine, mental illness, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, autoimmune disorders, GORD, allergy. Antibacterials for respiratory tract infections and antivirals were examined by drug class identification (ATC codes). Standardized Morbidity Ratio (SMR) for each comorbidity in the asthma population was calculated from the agespecific general population.

Results

- 59% of asthmatics had at least one of nine chronic comorbidities examined, compared to 18% in the general population.
- 6% of males and 8% of females had more than one of the chronic comorbidities.
- When antimicrobial treatment was included, 69% (male) and 71% (female) asthmatics had at least one comorbidity, compared to 30% and 34% in the general population.
- SMR estimates were consistently increased in both age groups and genders for all diseases except diabetes (range 0.9-1.4).
- Allergy and GORD had highest SMR (range 3.2-4.8) while the other comorbidities were in the range 1.2-2.5.

Conclusions

By using a nationwide prescription database containing diagnostic codes on reimbursed prescriptions, an excess occurrence of comorbidities in the young population of asthmatics was observed, compared to the general population of Norway. A majority of asthmatics had one comorbidity, while few had more than one.

5 DISCUSSION

5.1 General discussion

5.1.1 Use of asthma drugs

The prevalence of asthma drug use was stable during 2005-2007 among 2-29 year olds and was 5.5% in 2007 (paper II). For children and adolescents, our prevalence estimates are in the lower end compared to other studies: High levels (12-26%) have been reported in Italy and the USA (84, 103-105), while lower levels (4-8%) have been reported in the Netherlands, Denmark and the UK (36, 83, 85, 106, 107). In adults 20-29 years old, we found a stable prevalence during 2005-2007 that was 3.3% in males and 4.3% in females in 2007 (paper II). There are few studies among adults on the prevalence of asthma drug use. A Swedish study found a prevalence of 4.2% (males) and 5.9% (females) for any drug from ATC group R03 in 18-44 year olds in 2007 (108). A study from the European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS) reported a one-year prevalence of self-reported asthma drug use in Norwegians 20-48 year olds to be 3.6% (1990-1994), increasing to 7.7% (1998-2003) (80). The overall prevalence for all 14 countries of this ECRHS study was 6.8% (1990-1994) and 9.5% (1998-2003).

The aforementioned studies from different countries give crude numbers indicating which countries have higher and lower levels of asthma drug use. However, differences in age groups and definition of asthma drugs have great impact on the level of the prevalence estimates. For example, some studies included all drugs in ATC group R03 while other studies applied some reasoning to select specific respiratory drugs. Furthermore, some studies had access to diagnostic codes and confined populations to patients with physician-diagnosed asthma. Thus, it is likely that the study populations are heterogeneous.

The gender- and age-profile of asthma drug use in children and adolescents shows highest prevalence among the youngest age groups. Males had higher prevalence until adolescence, when an increase in prevalence is present in females and surpasses males from about 15-16 years onwards. The profile was stable during 2005-2007 (paper II) and the same pattern was also found in 2004 (81). Furthermore, the same profile emerges when including only persons who had two or more prescriptions, as when including persons who had one or more prescriptions (see appendix IV). This gender- and age-profile of asthma drug use has been

reported in Canada, the Netherlands and the UK, but not in Italy (84, 109, 110). These data on asthma drug corresponds well with studies of gender differences by age in the occurrence of asthma (48, 111-113).

5.1.2 Type of asthma drugs used

We studied the type of asthma drugs used by the Norwegian population 2-29 years of age in paper II. The assignment of asthma drug users to four mutually excluding drug groups may "preclude" some patterns of use. For example, inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) or fixed dose combinations of β_2 -agonists and corticosteroids (FDC) may have been used in the leukotriene receptor antagonists (LTRA) group as well, and shares in the ICS and FDC groups should be regarded as the minimum using inhaled corticosteroids. Nonetheless, paper II gives and overview on asthma drug use of the entire young Norwegian population. The apparent use of inhaled long- and short-acting β_2 -agonists (LABA and SABA) as monotherapy is discussed further below.

The safety of using LABA as monotherapy for asthma has been debated since the early 2000s (114-116). Regulatory agencies and guidelines state that LABA should only be used in combination with controller drugs like ICS (5, 75, 76). In paper II, we found that 39% of patients who received LABA during 2007 (1.5% of all asthma drug users) had not received any inhaled corticosteroids as controller drugs during 2005-2007. Taking use of LTRA into account only slightly reduced the share (38%, new unpublished data). Similar results to our finding have been reported for young adults in other countries; LABA monotherapy varied from 18-37% in Swedish counties, while it was reported in 26% and 11% of two American populations (108, 117, 118). The data in paper II are from 2007 and the use of controller drugs may have improved since then as the warnings from drug regulators intensified. Furthermore, the length and intensity of such monotherapy may be important but this was not investigated in our study. Further studies on the pattern and determinants of LABA monotherapy are warranted.

Another finding in paper II was the apparent use of SABA as monotherapy in a large share of adolescents and young adults: The share was 14% in preschoolers and increased to 35% in 20-29 year olds. This may reflect underuse of long-term controller drugs such as ICS. A few studies from Northern Europe have investigated SABA monotherapy and intensity of such use. Uijen et al. reported that 35% of 0-17 years olds on asthma therapy received SABA as

monotherapy (119). Davidsen et al. reported that nearly 20% of young adults with high consumption of inhaled β_2 -agonists (IBA) did not receive ICS, with higher shares among low IBA consumers (120). Arnlind et al. reported uneven use of IBA (mostly SABA) among young adults, with a large share of doses being consumed by a small share of the patients (108). Paper II only gives crude data and SABA monotherapy is warranted in patients with mild, intermittent asthma (5). SABA may also have been used once as part of diagnosing respiratory complaints and some patients may have leftover controller drugs from previous years. A study of the intensity (doses and length of use) and determinants of SABA monotherapy is warranted, taking into account use of other asthma drugs. Furthermore, the intensity of SABA consumption may be used as a marker of asthma control in future studies (121, 122).

Our findings indicate that the pharmacotherapy of asthma may not be optimal, and could be due to concerns among patients or parents regarding long-term use of corticosteroids. Asthma therapy may be improved by educating patients on the safety, benefits and the place in therapy for the different asthma drug classes.

5.1.3 Reported asthma drug use compared to prescription data

Maternally reported asthma drug use in 7 year old children was studied for both an indicationspecific drug question and for an open-ended question regarding the name of drugs (paper I). We found relatively high sensitivity (85%) and specificity (97%) for the indication-specific question, compared to filled prescriptions during the last year as reference standard. Furthermore, about half of the false positives had in fact received drug prescriptions, but did so 1 to 3 years ago. These children may have had intermittent asthma and had drugs left from earlier treatment episodes, with consequently no need to fill prescriptions during the last year. It may also represent some recall problems as to the exact time children used the drugs during the last 3 years. Our results correspond well with a Danish study among 6-8 year-olds reporting 92% sensitivity and 96% specificity (123). A previous study from the Norwegian Youth Health Surveys in 15-16 year olds reported a lower sensitivity (75%) on the asthma drug use question (124). This may be related to a lower adherence in adolescents, or differences in phrasing of questions and the age group that is reporting. On the open-ended questions regarding the names of the asthma drugs used we found lower sensitivity (range 72-74%) but high specificity (range 98-99%) compared to the indication-specific question. This is in accordance with published literature on phrasing of drug use questions (2).

5.1.4 Asthma drug use as a proxy measure for asthma

Administrative data on drug use may be utilized as a proxy measure of the occurrence of some diseases in the population. Generally, this is feasible if the drugs are used exclusively for one disease (specific) and that all diseased use drugs (sensitive). Insulin used by children with diabetes type 1 is probably the best example. We examined the validity of filled prescriptions on asthma drugs as a proxy measure of asthma in paper I. This proxy measure was utilized to identify current asthmatics in the study populations of paper II-IV.

There is no agreed upon gold standard for defining asthma in epidemiological studies (28). In paper I, maternal reports on a questionnaire regarding asthma in their children were used as reference standard (alloyed gold standard (2)). The children with no reports of asthma by their mothers were correctly identified by the proxy as not using asthma drugs in the previous year (1.2% received drugs) and the previous three years (3.7%, new unpublished data). The ability of the proxy measure to identify children with "current, physician-diagnosed asthma" was relatively high (sensitivity 80%) but may reflect some under-treatment. Alternatively, the capture period of one year in NorPD may be too short to capture all children deemed by their mothers to have current asthma, especially those with seasonal or intermittent asthma. This is supported by the improved sensitivity when increasing the length of the capture period (94% for three years). The proxy was less valid for identifying the two other categories of asthmatics ("current but not physician-diagnosed asthma" and "asthma in the past"). These two asthma groups are probably heterogeneous, with some individuals who should have received drugs and others that should not. Thus, a 100% match between questionnaire and prescription data was not expected. It is difficult to interpret the information that lies in mothers reporting "current but not physician-diagnosed asthma" and only 11 children were in this group. It could include some cases of mild asthma or cases still in the diagnostic process. For the group who had "asthma in the past", 18% had used drugs in the past year while 56% (new unpublished data) had used drugs in the past three years.

International studies have shown the feasibility of using databases with prescriptions as a proxy measure for asthma among children and adolescents (36, 107), and adults (34). Different cut-offs for the number of prescriptions received, length of capture period of prescriptions, and choice of asthma drugs to include in the proxy measure have been analyzed to identify the best-performing proxy measure. These studies used diagnosed asthma, retrieved from physicians, as a dichotomous reference standard. The best-performing proxy

measure using one year of prescription data had sensitivities between 63% and 95%, while specificities were between 87% and 99% (34, 36, 107). It is important to view these result in light of the differences in health care systems, reimbursement schemes and prescribing practices between countries. These factors influence how intimately linked asthma drug prescriptions is to the occurrence of asthma, and results may not be transferable to a Norwegian setting. In Norway, factors such as a well-developed government-financed healthcare system, a high rate of practicing physicians per inhabitants, and low co-payment for reimbursed drugs and physician visits (see chapter 1.3.3) should ensure that asthmatics have good access to asthma treatment.

Our validation study was carried out among mothers of 7-year old children, and the mothers' ability to report should not be substantially changed as children age. However, the proxy measure may not be transferable to all age groups. It is difficult to diagnose asthma in children less than 5 years of age because of variable and non-specific clinical symptoms, while airflow limitation and inflammation is difficult to assess (5, 12, 13). Asthma drugs are probably used during episodes of other respiratory complaints in preschool children who do not have asthma (106), or who have transient asthma complaints that will not persist into school age (7, 9). In adults, both an overlap in diagnosis and drug treatment with COPD will occur and the proxy measure may not be used above 40-50 years of age (12). The validity of this proxy measure is probably best in adolescents and young adults, because overlapping conditions are less prevalent and lung function testing as part of diagnosis is possible. Some mild cases are probably not captured by this proxy measure, as they are more difficult for physicians to detect, diagnose and subsequently prescribe drugs. However, the continuous data collection over several years may enable us to identify individuals who have long periods with remission of asthma (i.e. not used drugs for longer periods). A problem in asthma epidemiology is the transient nature of the disease in many patients, and there are no criteria for diagnosing the resolution of asthma. The same individual may switch from being regarded as asthmatic to nonasthmatic depending on when information is collected (28). Asthma should be regarded as a continuum rather than a dichotomy, and may be a syndrome arising from several pathways (125, 126). Thus, longer follow-up than one year is needed to separate cases of complete remission from cases in a temporary quiescent state. In the incidence and persistence analysis (paper II), 3-4 years of NorPD data was utilized. The results may reflect some of the variability of asthma disease, but a study using a longer follow-up period is desirable.

NorPD can identify current asthma that requires drug therapy in the population, given these restrictions on age. In paper I, the proxy measure using a one-year capture period performed best in identifying children with no reported asthma (specificity), while increasing the capture period to three years gave a good sensitivity. The definitions of the proxy measure can be varied depending on the focus of interest and will be a trade-off between high sensitivity and high specificity (32). Changes in the length of the capture period, drug classes included, and number of prescriptions required, may give different prevalence of asthma (127) and some advocate the use of positive predictive value to evaluate the proxy measure (107). For the NorPD data, it is possible to restrict the proxy measure by using reimbursement codes on prescriptions as a substitute for diagnosis. This has been done in a previous NorPD study (81) and was applied in paper II and IV.

The use of the question "ever asthma" in paper III could be problematic because of the variation in the disease activity and persistence of asthma over time. Sleep problems and use of hypnotic drugs (the outcome of the study) has been linked to the level of asthma control, i.e. currently active asthma. We therefore supplemented the questionnaire data with data on filled prescriptions for asthma drugs as an indication of whether asthma was currently active in the year prior to start of follow-up.

5.1.5 Comorbidities of asthma

In paper III and IV, we examined additional health problems and diseases requiring medical treatment that occurred in asthmatics in populations of children, adolescents and young adults.

Paper III showed a substantially higher risk of initiating hypnotic use in young adult asthmatics, especially in those who recently were in active asthma treatment. Results were robust towards the changes in design and statistical methods that we applied. The adjustment for covariates had little impact on risk estimates and may reflect that the measured covariates do not influence the effect of asthma group on risk of hypnotic use. Caution is warranted when interpreting this as covariates were measured a few years before the start of follow-up. This was during late adolescence, where changes in behaviors such as smoking and alcohol use occur in many individuals. The increased risk of hypnotic use could be a direct consequence of low asthma control, leading to more frequent or severe symptoms (e.g. nighttime symptoms). The level of control of asthma symptoms is related to both sleep problems (63, 128, 129) and hypnotic use (130). It could also be a secondary effect of one of the many comorbidities observed in asthma populations (53, 131-133), which can have detrimental effects on sleep (e.g. allergy, depression and anxiety (53, 64, 128, 134-137)). We examined the occurrence of allergy, depression, anxiety as well as other chronic diseases among asthmatics in paper IV.

We found a higher occurrence of several chronic diseases among asthmatics in paper IV. This is the first study to examine asthma and comorbid diseases in the entire Norwegian population by using the diagnostic codes from NorPD. We studied chronic diseases that have been associated with asthma in previous population-based studies (53, 131-133) that were expected to be of some magnitude in this age group. Given the method for identifying comorbidities in this study, the diseases also had to have a relevant pharmacotherapy with reimbursement. A prerequisite for receiving reimbursement is that the physician deems the patient to have chronic disease (confer chapter 1.3.3). Thus, our measure of comorbidity will capture chronic diseases diagnosed by a physician, where the physician and the patient have chosen to treat with drugs in the ambulatory setting.

The observed associations may be due to causal pathways for development of disease, or be indirectly linked through common genetic and environmental factors. Some of the relations between asthma and comorbidities (allergy, GORD, infections) have been widely studied, and allergy may even be regarded as part of the asthma disease complex (atopic asthma phenotype). A multitude of possible biologic mechanisms could explain the observed associations. However, the process for developing asthma is not fully understood and there are few confirmed risk factors for asthma (9, 16, 73). Our study (paper IV) was crosssectional, which precludes any inferences about the temporal sequence of developing asthma and comorbidities. Furthermore, the data and design is not suitable for making inferences about biology. A final observation regarding the results of paper IV is that many of the absolute differences are quite small and few had more than one of the comorbidities studied. This reflects the young and still relatively healthy population studied.

A contributing factor to the increased occurrence of additional health problems in asthmatics that was observed in paper III and IV could be detection bias (2); asthmatics visit physicians more often than their healthy peers and additional health problems come to the attention of the physician. Detection bias is less likely to be the case for more severe diseases such as diabetes

type 1. Furthermore, this bias may work the other way around in paper IV; mild, undiagnosed asthma may be more readily detected in persons who have other reasons for visiting physicians.

Another possible explanation is that asthmatics that are often in contact with their physician will likely be more aware of their illnesses and subsequently seek healthcare services. This relates to the issues on how to measure the occurrence of asthma and is not unique to studies based on healthcare service use. Self-reported asthma symptoms on questionnaires are commonly used in asthma epidemiology (21, 138). Reporting is influenced by the patients own perceptions and preferences, such as the threshold for reporting symptoms, seeking care and using drugs. For instance, psychosocial factors and mental illnesses like stress, depression and anxiety have been associated with asthma symptoms, but not necessarily with objective markers of asthma (e.g. lung function) or asthma diagnosis. These findings have been partly attributed to an increased perception of respiratory symptoms in patients with mental illnesses (135, 137, 139). Prescription data are objective in the sense that the individuals using drugs do not make deliberations on whether they have asthma symptoms. However, choosing to visit a physician and using the prescribed drugs rest on subjective judgments.

Prospective studies that can disentangle the temporal sequences of events may give new insight. Furthermore, studies of the consequences of comorbidities related to asthma outcomes are needed (52, 54). Comorbid diseases can lead to diagnostic difficulties, less control of symptoms, modulate the severity, and alter the response and adherence to asthma therapy (52-56). Use of hypnotics among individuals with asthma may be related to the level of asthma control and improvements in asthma management can make a difference, and the identification and treatment of comorbidities is part of the core management of asthma (5).

5.2 Methodological considerations

This chapter pertains to general considerations in epidemiologic research that is relevant to our studies. Specific methodological issues regarding the measures of asthma and asthma drug use have been discussed in chapter5.1.4.

The objective of epidemiological studies is to obtain an valid and precise estimate of the frequency of a disease/condition or of the effect of an exposure on the occurrence of a disease

(1). Furthermore, this estimate should be generalizable to a relevant target population. Thus, the study population should either be the target population itself, or at least experience effects similar to the target population. Errors that influence the estimate may be classified as random or systematic.

Random errors influence the precision of the estimate and may be represented by the width of the confidence limits around the point estimate. Random errors will generally diminish if the study population size is increased and studies using NorPD as population source are generally large. Thus, problems with random error were considered to be small when drawing the study population from NorPD. The Youth Health Surveys (paper III) are relatively large (~15,000 individuals invited). However, division of the study population by asthma groups yielded two small groups and will, together with the high number of zero counts (no filled prescriptions) in the outcome variable, contribute to less precise estimates in each group. The MoBa cohort study consists of more than 100,000 pregnancies but our study (paper I) was based on the children who had reached 7 years of age, thus constituting ~2000 respondents.

Systematic error tends to be a greater problem than random error in epidemiological studies. It influences the validity of the estimate by producing results that are consistently distorted in one direction, and the validity may be separated in two components: Internal validity of the inferences as they pertain to the source population, and external validity (generalizability) of inferences as they pertain to people outside the population (1). Three types of systematic errors in observational studies will be discussed in the following sections: Selection bias, information bias and confounding.

5.2.1 Selection bias

Selection bias is due to the procedures for selecting subjects to be included in the study and factors that may affect participation in the study. Thus, participants may not be representative of the source population because the occurrence of disease or the exposure-disease association is different in participants and non-participants (1). The age group examined in paper I-IV were under 30 years of age and the effect of selective survival of healthier individuals was considered negligible. Individuals who died (paper III and IV and persistence analysis in paper II) and emigrated (III and IV) were excluded from analysis because they did not have the chance to get the outcome. Relatively few individuals were excluded and then mainly due to emigration.

For NorPD, there is mandatory registration in the database, thereby covering all persons residing in Norway who fill prescriptions (no self-selection issues). Few individuals at this age are permanently residing in institutions and NorPD should therefore cover virtually all drug users in Norway. The study population in paper II was defined by NorPD data and selection bias was considered negligible with respect to asthma drug use. The population in paper IV was also defined by NorPD data but restricted to the individuals participating in the Population and Housing Census in 2001. This was a census in the entire population with mandatory participation and selection bias in paper IV was considered negligible. The representativeness of the individuals defined as asthmatics by our measures in paper I-IV has been discussed in chapter 5.1.4.

The MoBa cohort study (paper I) invited pregnant women from all over Norway to participate during 1999-2008, and the end of enrolment protocol released in 2010 (91) showed an overall participation rate of 38.5%. Nilsen et al. (140) studied the potential bias from self-selection in MoBa data from the period 2000-2006 (participation rate 43.5%), by comparing to all women giving birth in Norway. Nilsens study suggests that associations between exposures and outcomes were not biased but some prevalence estimates were. For example, the proportion of mothers that were smoking was lower in MoBa compared to total population, while prevalence of pregnancy complications and diseases were similar. Maternal asthma was about 4% in MoBa participants and in the total population (140). For the specific questionnaire used in paper I, the response rate was 61%. Self-selection in responding to this questionnaire was assessed by comparing prevalence of asthma drug use in the children between responders (7.6%) and non-responders (7.9%) as recorded in NorPD. The prevalence in the Norwegian population of 7-year olds was lower (6.9%). Selection bias is probably less important in studies of correspondence between two data sources (paper I) than in studies of prevalence of disease.

The Youth Health Surveys (paper III) invited all 10th grade students in each county and had a response rate of 86%, while 77% were possible to link with other register data. This is a relatively high participation rate, and may in part be attributed to questionnaires being filled out during school lessons. Students from some schools in Troms and Finnmark only received questionnaires by mail and had lower participation rate. However, also the school-based surveys in these counties had lower participation rates. In Oslo, Oppland and Hedmark,

reminders were sent to the home of non-responders. It is likely that no significant selfselection bias has occurred (internal validity). The counties surveyed were from different geographical areas of Norway and include both urban and rural areas. The study population should be fairly representative of the young population in Norway (external validity). The prevalence of asthma drug use in the study population and the Norwegian population of the same age was similar, and this is an indirect assessment of selection bias.

5.2.2 Information bias

Information bias pertains to the accuracy of the information collected for different variables, and is also called misclassification when discrete variables are used (1). When the misclassification of variables is similar for all individuals, it is called non-differential. When the misclassification of one variable is dependent on the actual value of another variable (e.g. more misclassification of outcome variable among non-exposed than exposed), it is called differential.

The use of drugs as registered in NorPD is central in all papers of this thesis. The terms fill or redeem prescriptions, receive or dispense drugs, have been interchangeably used with the term "drug use" throughout paper I-IV, and essentially mean filling a prescription at the pharmacy. Interpretation of "drug use" must take into account the possibility of received drugs not being used, or used at another time than it is received from the pharmacy. It seems less likely that drugs are not used if patients receive the same drugs on several occasions. Obtaining drug exposure data from databases such as NorPD eliminates recall bias (2). The electronic registration of data at the time of dispensing the drug as well as legislations and other incentives ensures high quality of registered data. Furthermore, NorPD captures all filled prescriptions to individuals in ambulatory care, regardless of reimbursement status, prescriber speciality or occupation (primary, secondary and tertiary care), or if patients move within the country. Asthma drugs (paper I-IV) and hypnotics (paper III) are prescription-only drugs and can be considered complete. Regarding paper IV, over-the-counter drugs are available for the treatment of allergy and GORD but patients have economic incentives to obtain a prescription and thereby receive reimbursement.

The self-reported data used in paper I and III relies on respondents correctly interpreting the questions, recalling the information precisely and willingness to disclose the correct information. Furthermore, questions need to formulated and presented in an unambiguous

manner on questionnaires. For questions on drug use, the time frame for recollection is important as participants have more difficulties recollecting drug use in distant past. Additionally, drug class-specific or indication-specific questions on drug use have been found to give more accurate reports than open-ended questions on the names of drugs used (2). In the validation study (paper I), the recall period was one year for the asthma drug use question and was found to have high validity. We observed the aforementioned difference between open-ended and indication-specific questions in paper I. In paper III, the covariates for the Incidence rate ratio (IRR) analysis were self-reported (except age and gender). There is a potential for selective reporting according to social desirability (e.g. smoking and alcohol consumption), while recall bias should be less pronounced as most covariates measured the current status. However, they were measured some time before start of follow-up, and may have changed before or during follow-up.

Possible detection bias in paper III and IV has been discussed in chapter 5.1.5.

5.2.3 Confounding

Confounding occurs when a secondary variable that is linked to both exposure and outcome distorts the estimate of effect, and may wholly or partially explain an observed association (1, 2). Possible confounding variables were adjusted for in paper III by using multivariable analysis in IRR estimation. Adjustments had little impact on the risk estimates. This may be due to changes in measured covariates between the baseline survey and the outcome period, or that the measured covariates do not influence the effect of asthma group on risk of hypnotic use. Stratification by gender (paper II and IV), stratification by age (II), and age standardization (paper IV) were performed to observe differences by gender and age.

6 CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The prevalence of asthma drug use in the Norwegian population of children, adolescents and adults was relatively stable at about 5.5%, with higher rates in preschool children and lower rates in young adults. Both prevalence and incidence of drug use was higher in females from about 15 years of age. These data on asthma drug use corresponds well with the findings in epidemiological studies of asthma. We found good correspondence between reported asthma and asthma drug use registered in NorPD. Thus, NorPD could be a valuable proxy to identify active asthma diseases in the Norwegian population, given some restrictions on age groups and careful definition of the proxy measure.

The incidence and persistence analysis indicates that a large share of asthma drug users did not use their drugs continuously over years. This variability reflects the fluctuations of asthma disease over time, which complicates the definition of asthma in epidemiological research. Although several potential risk factors for asthma have been identified, efforts in epidemiology and other research fields on asthma have not been very successful in identifying causal factors for asthma development. Therefore, preventive measures remain illusive, and asthma pharmacotherapy is concentrated on controlling symptoms and not remission of the disease. Part of the problem in identifying risk factors seems to be how to define asthma in population studies, with great variability in definition, time frame and entities of the disease being measured. A strength of the NorPD data is the continuous and complete collection of high quality data and gives a new opportunity in Norway to follow individual patients' drug use over time. NorPD data could shed light on the natural history of asthma drug use, and the underlying disease, from childhood and into adulthood on a population-based scale by tracking patient cohorts over a longer time period. It would be interesting to further investigate whether there is a subgroup of patients that once they initiate drug use, need treatment consistently from childhood into adulthood.

This study has provided evidence of other diseases and health problems that are overrepresented in asthmatics in the Norwegian population. Several chronic diseases and antimicrobial treatment occurred more frequently in asthmatics, while the risk of initiating hypnotic use was higher in asthmatics. In due course, it will be possible to assess the time sequence of occurrence of asthma and the other chronic diseases that we have studied. The study of asthma drugs used by the Norwegian population revealed some areas where there might be room for improvement in asthma care. The use of LABA as monotherapy is strongly discouraged, yet a large proportion seemed to use them as monotherapy. However, this situation may have improved in later years as drug regulators and other bodies have issued several warnings. The apparent use of SABA as monotherapy was high in the older age groups. This could be due to these individuals having mild, intermittent asthma where such treatment is warranted, or it could represent under-treatment with controller drugs. A more thorough analysis of this issue should focus on the intensity of such treatment. Furthermore, among those who receive controller drugs, intensive use of SABA could be an indicator of suboptimal asthma control. The quality of care in those who receive asthma therapy could be improved by e.g. education of the patients on benefits and harms of the different drugs.

To assess outcomes of asthma therapy, there is a need for outcome data. The Norwegian Patient Registry (NPR) with nationwide hospital inpatient diagnostic data can provide information on asthma outcomes and may be linked to NorPD data in future studies.

7 REFERENCES

- Rothman KJ, Greenland S. Modern epidemiology. Third ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008.
- Strom BL, ed. Pharmacoepidemiology. Fourth ed. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2005.
- Furu K, Wettermark B, Andersen M, Martikainen JE, Almarsdottir AB, Sorensen HT; The Nordic countries as a cohort for pharmacoepidemiological research. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 2010;106:86-94.
- Furu K; Establishment of the nationwide Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD) new opportunities for research in pharmacoepidemiology in Norway. Nor J Epidemiol 2008;18:129-36.
- 5. Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention. Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA). 2009. Available from: http://www.ginasthma.org
- Martinez FD, Wright AL, Taussig LM, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Morgan WJ, et al.; Asthma and Wheezing in the First Six Years of Life. N Engl J Med 1995;332:133-8.
- Stein RT, Martinez FD; Asthma phenotypes in childhood: lessons from an epidemiological approach. Paediatric Respiratory Reviews 2004;5:155-61.
- 8. Wenzel SE; Asthma: defining of the persistent adult phenotypes. Lancet 2006;368:804-13.
- Panettieri J, Covar R, Grant E, Hillyer EV, Bacharier L; Natural history of asthma: Persistence versus progression--does the beginning predict the end? J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008;121:607-13.
- 10. Eder W, Ege MJ, von Mutius E; The Asthma Epidemic. N Engl J Med 2006;355:2226-35.
- Shirtcliffe P, Weatherall M, Travers J, Beasley R; The multiple dimensions of airways disease: targeting treatment to clinical phenotypes. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2011;17:72-8.
- 12. Levy ML, Fletcher M, Price DB, Hausen T, Halbert RJ, Yawn BP; International Primary Care Respiratory Group (IPCRG) Guidelines: diagnosis of respiratory diseases in primary care. Prim Care Respir J 2006;15:20-34.
- Global Strategy for the Diagnosis and Management of Asthma in Children 5 Years and Younger. Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA). 2009. Available from: http://www.ginasthma.org
- 14. Strachan DP; Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. Br Med J 1989;299:1259-60.

- Douwes J, Pearce N; Commentary: The end of the hygiene hypothesis? Int J Epidemiol 2008;37:570-2.
- Pearce N, Douwes J; Response: Time for species--course epidemiology? Int J Epidemiol 2009;38:403-10.
- 17. von Hertzen L, Haahtela T; Signs of reversing trends in prevalence of asthma. Allergy 2005;60:283-92.
- 18. Pearce N, Douwes J; The global epidemiology of asthma in children. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2006;10:125-32.
- 19. Burney P; The changing prevalence of asthma? Thorax 2002;57:36-9.
- 20. Rees J; ABC of asthma Prevalence. Br Med J 2005;331:443-5.
- Magnus P, Jaakkola JJK; Secular trend in the occurrence of asthma among children and young adults: Critical appraisal of repeated cross sectional surveys. Br Med J 1997;314:1795-9.
- Mannino DM; Measuring asthma, respiratory symptoms, and changes over time. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2004;8:1395.
- Crane J, Mallol J, Beasley R, Stewart A, Asher MI; Agreement between written and video questions for comparing asthma symptoms in ISAAC. Eur Respir J 2003;21:455-61.
- Smeeton NC, Rona RJ, Oyarzun M, Diaz PV; Agreement between Responses to a Standardized Asthma Questionnaire and a Questionnaire following a Demonstration of Asthma Symptoms in Adults. Am J Epidemiol 2006;163:384-91.
- Brogger J, Bakke P, Eide GE, Johansen B, Andersen AR, Gulsvik A; Trends in symptoms of obstructive lung disease in Norway. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2004;8:1416-22.
- Netuveli G, Hurwitz B, Sheikh A; Lineages of language and the diagnosis of asthma. J R Soc Med 2007;100:19-24.
- Masoli M, Fabian D, Holt S, Beasley R, Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) Program; The global burden of asthma: executive summary of the GINA Dissemination Committee Report. Allergy 2004;59:469-78.
- Pekkanen J, Sunyer J; Problems in using incidence to analyze risk factors in follow-up studies. Eur J Epidemiol 2008;23:581-4.
- 29. van Wonderen KE, van der Mark LB, Mohrs J, Bindels PJE, van Aalderen WMC, ter Riet G; Different definitions in childhood asthma: how dependable is the dependent variable? Eur Respir J 2010;36:48-56.
- Sears MR, Greene JM, Willan AR, Wiecek EM, Taylor DR, Flannery EM, et al.; A Longitudinal, Population-Based, Cohort Study of Childhood Asthma Followed to Adulthood. N Engl J Med 2003;349:1414-22.

- To T, Gershon A, Wang C, Dell S, Cicutto L; Persistence and Remission in Childhood Asthma: A Population-Based Asthma Birth Cohort Study. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2007;161:1197-204.
- Pekkanen J, Pearce N; Defining asthma in epidemiological studies. Eur Respir J 1999;14:951-7.
- Osborne ML, Vollmer WM, Johnson RE, Buist AS; Use of An Automated Prescription Database to Identify Individuals with Asthma. J Clin Epidemiol 1995;48:1393-7.
- Pont LG, van der Werf GT, Denig P, Haaijer-Ruskamp FM; Identifying general practice patients diagnosed with asthma and their exacerbation episodes from prescribing data. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2002;57:819-25.
- 35. Kozyrskyj AL, Mustard CA, Becker AB; Identifying children with persistent asthma from health care administrative records. Can Respir J 2004;11:141-5.
- Moth G, Vedsted P, Schiotz PO; Identification of asthmatic children using prescription data and diagnosis. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2007;63:605-11.
- 37. Asher MI, Montefort S, Bjorksten B, Lai CK, Strachan DP, Weiland SK, et al.; Worldwide time trends in the prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and eczema in childhood: ISAAC Phases One and Three repeat multicountry cross-sectional surveys. Lancet 2006;368:733.
- Variations in the prevalence of respiratory symptoms, self-reported asthma attacks, and use of asthma medication in the European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS). Eur Respir J 1996;9:687-95.
- The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) Steering Committee; Worldwide variation in prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and atopic eczema: ISAAC. Lancet 1998;351:1225-32.
- 40. Pearce N, Ait-Khaled N, Beasley R, Mallol J, Keil U, Mitchell E, et al.; Worldwide trends in the prevalence of asthma symptoms: phase III of the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). Thorax 2007;62:758-66.
- 41. Anderson HR, Gupta R, Strachan DP, Limb ES; 50 years of asthma: UK trends from 1955 to 2004. Thorax 2007;62:85-90.
- 42. Mommers M, Gielkens-Sijstermans C, Swaen GMH, van Schayck CP; Trends in the prevalence of respiratory symptoms and treatment in Dutch children over a 12 year period: results of the fourth consecutive survey. Thorax 2005;60:97-9.
- Selnes A, Nystad W, Bolle R, Lund E; Diverging prevalence trends of atopic disorders in Norwegian children. Results from three cross-sectional studies. Allergy 2005;60:894-9.
- 44. Nafstad P, Magnus P, Jaakkola JJK; Early Respiratory Infections and Childhood Asthma. Pediatrics 2000;106:e38.

- 45. Lindbaek M, Wefring KW, Grangård EH, Øvsthus K; Socioeconomical conditions as risk factors for bronchial asthma in children aged 4-5 yrs. Eur Respir J 2003;21:105-8.
- Carlsen KCL, Haland G, Devulapalli CS, Munthe-Kaas M, Pettersen M, Granum B, et al.; Asthma in every fifth child in Oslo, Norway: a 10-year follow up of a birth cohort study*. Allergy 2006;61:454-60.
- Nafstad P, Brunekreef B, Skrondal A, Nystad W; Early Respiratory Infections, Asthma, and Allergy: 10-Year Follow-up of the Oslo Birth Cohort. Pediatrics 2005;116:e255-e262.
- Tollefsen E, Bjermer L, Langhammer A, Johnsen R, Holmen TL; Adolescent respiratory symptoms-girls are at risk: The Young-HUNT study, Norway. Respir Med 2006;100:471-6.
- 49. Brogger J, Bakke P, Eide GE, Johansen B, Andersen A, Gulsvik A; Long-term changes in adult asthma prevalence. Eur Respir J 2003;21:468-72.
- 50. van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Roos S, Knottnerus JA; Problems in determining occurrence rates of multimorbidity. J Clin Epidemiol 2001;54:675-9.
- van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Metsemakers JFM, Roos S, Knottnerus JA; Multimorbidity in General Practice: Prevalence, Incidence, and Determinants of Co-Occurring Chronic and Recurrent Diseases. J Clin Epidemiol 1998;51:367-75.
- 52. de Groot EP, Duiverman EJ, Brand PLP; Comorbidities of asthma during childhood: possibly important, yet poorly studied. Eur Respir J 2010;36:671-8.
- 53. Zhang T, Carleton BC, Prosser RJ, Smith AM; The added burden of comorbidity in patients with asthma. J Asthma 2009;46:1021-6.
- 54. Boulet LP; Influence of comorbid conditions on asthma. Eur Respir J 2009;33:897-906.
- Bender BG; Risk Taking, Depression, Adherence, and Symptom Control in Adolescents and Young Adults with Asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2006;173:953-7.
- Opolski M, Wilson I; Asthma and depression: a pragmatic review of the literature and recommendations for future research. Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health 2005;1:18.
- 57. Gershon AS, Wang C, Guan J, To T; Burden of comorbidity in individuals with asthma. Thorax 2010;65:612-8.
- Starfield B, Lemke KW, Bernhardt T, Foldes SS, Forrest CB, Weiner JP; Comorbidity: implications for the importance of primary care in 'case' management. Ann Fam Med 2003;1:8-14.
- 59. Thakkar K, Boatright RO, Gilger MA, El-Serag HB; Gastroesophageal Reflux and Asthma in Children: A Systematic Review. Pediatrics 2010;125:e925-e930.

- Havemann BD, Henderson CA, El-Serag HB; The association between gastrooesophageal reflux disease and asthma: a systematic review. Gut 2007;56:1654-64.
- Bousquet J, Khaltaev N, Cruz AA, Denburg J, Fokkens WJ, Togias A, et al.; Allergic Rhinitis and its Impact on Asthma (ARIA) 2008*. Allergy 2008;63:8-160.
- Bousquet J, Vignola AM, Demoly P; Links between rhinitis and asthma. Allergy 2003;58:691-706.
- 63. Klink ME, Dodge R, Quan SF; The relation of sleep complaints to respiratory symptoms in a general population. Chest 1994;105:151-4.
- Chida Y, Hamer M, Steptoe A; A Bidirectional Relationship Between Psychosocial Factors and Atopic Disorders: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Psychosom Med 2008;70:102-16.
- 65. Expert Panel Report 3 (EPR3): Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Asthma - Full report. National Heart Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI). 2007;NIH publication no. 07-4051. Available from: http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/asthma/asthgdln.htm
- 66. British Thoracic Society; British Guideline on the Management of Asthma. Thorax 2008;63:iv1-121.
- van der Molen T, Ostrem A, Stallberg B, Ostergaard MS, Singh RB; International Primary Care Respiratory Group (IPCRG) Guidelines: Management of Asthma. Prim Care Respir J 2006;15:35-47.
- Bacharier LB, Boner A, Carlsen KH, Eigenmann PA, Frischer T, Gotz M, et al.; Diagnosis and treatment of asthma in childhood: a PRACTALL consensus report. Allergy 2008;63:5-34.
- Myers TR; Guidelines for asthma management: A review and comparison of 5 current guidelines. Respir Care 2008;53:751-67.
- Brand PLP, Baraldi E, Bisgaard H, Boner AL, Castro-Rodriguez JA, Custovic A, et al.; Definition, assessment and treatment of wheezing disorders in preschool children: an evidence-based approach. Eur Respir J 2008;32:1096-110.
- Upham JW, James AL; Remission of asthma: The next therapeutic frontier? Pharmacology & Therapeutics 2011;130:38-45.
- Holgate S, Bisgaard H, Bjermer L, Haahtela T, Haughney J, Horne R, et al.; The Brussels Declaration: the need for change in asthma management. Eur Respir J 2008;32:1433-42.
- 73. Bisgaard H, Bønnelykke K; Long-term studies of the natural history of asthma in childhood. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010;126:187-97.
- 74. Rang HP, Dale MM, Ritter JM, Flower RJ. Pharmacology. Sixth ed. Elsevier; 2007.

- 75. Norsk legemiddelhåndbok 2010. Foreningen til utgivelse av Norsk legemiddelhåndbok. 2010. Available from: http://www.legemiddelhandboka.no
- 76. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). FDA Drug Safety Communication: New safety requirements for long-acting inhaled asthma medications called Long-Acting Beta-Agonists (LABAs). Available from: http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/postmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsa ndProviders/ucm200776.htm [cited 2011-05-19].
- 77. Hågå A, Sverre JM; Pricing and reimbursement of pharmaceuticals in Norway. The European Journal of Health Economics 2002;3:215-20.
- Norwegian Medicines Agency. Blå resept. Available from: http://www.slv.no/templates/InterPage 75414.aspx [cited 2010-09-10].
- Furu K, Skurtveit S, Rosvold EO; [Self-reported medical drug use among 15-16 yearold adolescents in Norway]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 2005;125:2759-61.
- Janson C, de Marco R, Accordini S, Almar E, Bugiani M, Carolei A, et al.; Changes in the use of anti-asthmatic medication in an international cohort. Eur Respir J 2005;26:1047-55.
- Furu K, Skurtveit S, Langhammer A, Nafstad P; Use of anti-asthmatic medications as a proxy for prevalence of asthma in children and adolescents in Norway: a nationwide prescription database analysis. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2007;63:693-8.
- 82. Hallas J, Hansen NC; Individual utilization of anti-asthma medication by young adults: a prescription database analysis. J Intern Med 1993;234:65-70.
- de Vries TW, Tobi H, Schirm E, van den BP, Duiverman EJ, de Jong-Van den Berg LT; The gap between evidence-based medicine and daily practice in the management of paediatric asthma. A pharmacy-based population study from The Netherlands. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2006;62:51-5.
- Bianchi M, Clavenna A, Labate L, Bortolotti A, Fortino I, Merlino L, et al.; Antiasthmatic drug prescriptions to an Italian paedriatic population. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2009;20:585-91.
- 85. Turner SW, Thomas M, von Ziegenweidt J, Price D; Prescribing trends in asthma: a longitudinal observational study. Arch Dis Child 2009;94:16-22.
- Norwegian Tax Administration. Fødselsnummer [person identity number]. Available from: http://www.skatteetaten.no/no/Alt-om/Folkeregistrering/Fodselsnummer [cited 2011-03-01].
- Reseptregisteret 2006-2010 [The Norwegian Prescription Database 2006-2010]. Oslo, Norway: Norwegian Institute of Public Health. 2011;2. Website: http://www.reseptregisteret.no
- Guidelines for ATC classification and DDD assignment. Oslo, Norway: WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. 2010. Website: http://www.whocc.no/

- Magnus P, Irgens LM, Haug K, Nystad W, Skjaerven R, Stoltenberg C, et al.; Cohort profile: The Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). Int J Epidemiol 2006;35:1146-50.
- Norwegian Institute of Public Health. Den norske mor og barn-undersøkelsen, MoBa [The Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study, MoBa]. Available from: http://www.fhi.no/morogbarn [cited 2011-01-12].
- Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study revised protocol, End of enrollment -Protocol II. Norwegian Institute of Public Health; Available from: http://www.fhi.no/dokumenter/346045b550.pdf
- 92. Norwegian Institute of Public Health. Ungdomsundersøkelsene [The Youth Health Surveys]. Available from: http://www.fhi.no/ungdom [cited 2010-08-12].
- Statistics Norway. Population and Housing Census: How the census was carried out. Available from: http://www.ssb.no/vis/fob2001_en/gjennomfoering_en.html [cited 2010-12-08].
- Hammer H; [The central population registry in medical research]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 2002;122:2550.
- Agency for Public Management and eGovernment (Difi). National Population Register. Available from: http://www.norway.no/temaside/tema.asp?stikkord=94303 [cited 2011-01-13].
- Statistics Norway. StatBank Norway. Available from: http://statbank.ssb.no//statistikkbanken/default_fr.asp?PLanguage=1 [cited 2011-01-13].
- Legemiddelforbruket i Norge 2006-2010 [Drug consumption in Norway 2006-2010]. Oslo, Norway: Norwegian Institute of Public Health. 2011;1. Website: http://www.legemiddelforbruk.no/
- Hallas J; Drug utilization statistics for individual-level pharmacy dispensing data. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2005;14:455-63.
- 99. Caetano PA, Lam JM, Morgan SG; Toward a standard definition and measurement of persistence with drug therapy: Examples from research on statin and antihypertensive utilization. Clin Ther 2006;28:1411-24.
- 100. [Norwegian national guidelines for treatment with antibiotics in general practice]. Norwegian Directorate of Health. 2008. Available from: http://www.helsebiblioteket.no/microsite/Antibiotikaretningslinjer
- 101. Vollset SE; Confidence intervals for a binomial proportion. Stat Med 1993;12:809-24.
- 102. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S, May S. Applied survival analysis: regression modeling of time-to-event data. Wiley-Interscience; 2008.

- Clavenna A, Rossi E, Berti A, Pedrazzi G, Rosa M, Bonati M, et al.; Inappropriate use of anti-asthmatic drugs in the Italian paediatric population. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2003;59:565-9.
- 104. Clavenna A, Berti A, Gualandi L, Rossi E, De RM, Bonati M; Drug utilisation profile in the Italian paediatric population. Eur J Pediatr 2009;168:173-80.
- Korelitz JJ, Zito JM, Gavin NI, Masters MN, McNally D, Irwin DE, et al.; Asthmarelated medication use among children in the United States. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2008;100:222-9.
- Schokker S, Groenhof F, van der Veen WJ, van der Molen T; Prescribing of asthma medication in primary care for children aged under 10. Prim Care Respir J 2010;19:28-34.
- 107. Zuidgeest M, van Dijk L, Smit H, van der Wouden J, Brunekreef B, Leufkens H, et al.; Prescription of respiratory medication without an asthma diagnosis in children: a population based study. BMC Health Services Research 2008;8:16.
- Arnlind M, Wettermark Br, Nokela M, Hjemdahl P, Rehnberg C, Jonsson E; Regional variation and adherence to guidelines for drug treatment of asthma. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2010;66:187-98.
- 109. Sen E, Verhamme K, Neubert A, Hsia Y, Murray M, Felisi M, et al.; Assessment of Pediatric asthma drug use in three European countries; a TEDDY study. Eur J Pediatr 2010;1-12.
- 110. Khaled LA, Ahmad F, Brogan T, Fearnley J, Graham J, MacLeod S, et al.; Prescription medicine use by one million Canadian children. Paediatrics and Child Health 2003;8:6A-56A.
- 111. Almqvist C, Worm M, Leynaert B; Impact of gender on asthma in childhood and adolescence: a GA2LEN review. Allergy 2008;63:47-57.
- 112. Kynyk JA, Mastronarde JG, McCallister JW; Asthma, the sex difference. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2011;17:6-11.
- 113. Wright AL, Stern DA, Kauffmann F, Martinez FD; Factors influencing gender differences in the diagnosis and treatment of asthma in childhood: the Tucson Children's Respiratory Study. Pediatr Pulmonol 2006;41:318-25.
- 114. Kuehn BM; FDA Offers Advice to Reduce Risks of Long-Acting [beta]-Agonists in Asthma Care. JAMA 2010;303:1353-4.
- 115. Beasley R, Perrin K, Weatherall M, Wijesinghe M; Call for withdrawal of LABA single-therapy inhaler in asthma. Lancet 2010;376:750-1.
- 116. Lemanske J, Busse WW; The US Food and Drug Administration and long-acting [beta]2-agonists: The importance of striking the right balance between risks and benefits of therapy? J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010;126:449-52.

- 117. Salmun LM, Wong MD, Manley RT, Chen W, Bowlin SJ; Prescription patterns of long-acting [beta]-agonist monotherapy for patients with asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2011;106:172-4.
- 118. Wasilevich EA, Clark SJ, Cohn LM, Dombkowski KJ; Long-acting beta-agonist monotherapy among children and adults with asthma. Am J Manag Care 2011;17:e91-e95.
- Uijen JHJM, van der Wouden JC, François G, Willemsen SP, van Suijlekom-Smit LW, Bindels PJ; Asthma prescription patterns for children: can GPs do better? Eur J Gen Pract 2011;17:109-15.
- 120. Davidsen JR, Søndergaard J, Hallas J, Siersted HC, Lykkegaard J, Andersen M; Increased use of inhaled corticosteroids among young Danish adult asthmatics: An observational study. Respir Med 2010;104:1817-24.
- 121. Schatz M, Zeiger RS; Improving asthma outcomes in large populations. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011; In Press.
- 122. Klomp H, Lawson JA, Cockcroft DW, Chan BT, Cascagnette P, Gander L, et al.; Examining asthma quality of care using a population-based approach. CMAJ 2008;178:1013-21.
- 123. Wogelius P, Poulsen S, Toft Sørensen H; Validity of parental-reported questionnaire data on Danish children's use of asthma-drugs: A comparison with a population-based prescription database. Eur J Epidemiol 2005;20:17-22.
- Skurtveit S, Selmer R, Tverdal A, Furu K; The validity of self-reported prescription medication use among adolescents varied by therapeutic class. J Clin Epidemiol 2008;61:714-7.
- Marks GB; Identifying asthma in population studies: from single entity to a multicomponent approach. Eur Respir J 2005;26:3-5.
- 126. Pekkanen J, Sunyer J, Anto JM, Burney P, on behalf of the European Community Respiratory Health Study (ECRHS); Operational definitions of asthma in studies on its aetiology. Eur Respir J 2005;26:28-35.
- 127. Hoffmann F, Glaeske G; Prescriptions as a proxy for asthma in children: a good choice? Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2010;66:307-13.
- 128. Janson C, De Backer W, Gislason T, Plaschke P, Bjornsson E, Hetta J, et al.; Increased prevalence of sleep disturbances and daytime sleepiness in subjects with bronchial asthma: a population study of young adults in three European countries. Eur Respir J 1996;9:2132-8.
- 129. Wertz DA, Pollack M, Rodgers K, Bohn RL, Sacco P, Sullivan SD; Impact of asthma control on sleep, attendance at work, normal activities, and disease burden. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2010;105:118-23.

- 130. Laforest L, Van Ganse E, Devouassoux G, Osman LM, Pison C, El Hasnaoui A, et al.; Factors influencing dispensing of psychotropic medications to patients with asthma: a community pharmacy-based survey. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2008;100:230-6.
- 131. Adams RJ, Wilson DH, Taylor AW, Daly A, Tursan d'Espaignet E, Dal Grande E, et al.; Coexistent Chronic Conditions and Asthma Quality of Life*. Chest 2006;129:285-91.
- 132. Cazzola M, Calzetta L, Bettoncelli G, Novelli L, Cricelli C, Rogliani P; Asthma and comorbid medical illness. Eur Respir J 2011;38:42-9.
- 133. Prosser R, Carleton B, Smith A; The comorbidity burden of the treated asthma patient population in British Columbia. Chronic Dis Can 2010;30:46-55.
- 134. Leger D, Annesi-Maesano I, Carat F, Rugina M, Chanal I, Pribil C, et al.; Allergic Rhinitis and Its Consequences on Quality of Sleep: An Unexplored Area. Arch Intern Med 2006;166:1744-8.
- Janson C, Bjornsson E, Hetta J, Boman G; Anxiety and depression in relation to respiratory symptoms and asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994;149:930-4.
- Goodwin RD, Pagura J, Cox B, Sareen J; Asthma and mental disorders in Canada: Impact on functional impairment and mental health service use. J Psychosom Res 2010;68:165-73.
- Douwes J, Brooks C, Pearce N; Asthma nervosa: old concept, new insights. Eur Respir J 2011;37:986-90.
- 138. Pearce N, Beasley R, Pekkanen J; Role of bronchial responsiveness testing in asthma prevalence surveys. Thorax 2000;55:352-4.
- Fernandes L, Fonseca J, Martins S, Delgado L, Pereira AC, Vaz M, et al.; Association of Anxiety With Asthma: Subjective and Objective Outcome Measures. Psychosomatics 2010;51:39-46.
- Nilsen RM, Vollset SE, Gjessing HK, Skjaerven R, Melve KK, Schreuder P, et al.; Self-selection and bias in a large prospective pregnancy cohort in Norway. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2009;23:597-608.

#
IV

TITLE PAGE

Comorbidities in an asthma population 8-29 years old -a study from the Norwegian Prescription Database

Running head: Comorbidities in an asthma population 8-29 years old

Øystein Karlstad¹, Per Nafstad^{1,2}, Aage Tverdal¹, Svetlana Skurtveit¹, Kari Furu^{1,3}

1) Division of Epidemiology, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, Oslo, Norway.

2) Section for Preventive Medicine and Epidemiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway.

3) Department of Pharmacy, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø, Tromsø, Norway.

Øystein Karlstad Norwegian Institute of Public Health Division of Epidemiology Department of Pharmacoepidemiology P.O. Box 4404 Nydalen, NO-0403 Oslo, Norway Telephone: + 47 21 07 81 27, Fax: + 47 21 07 81 46 E-mail: oystein.karlstad@fhi.no

Keywords:

Asthma, comorbidity, epidemiology, prescription database,

Key points:

- Comorbidities in asthmatics may influence asthma outcomes and have implications for disease management.
- Diagnostic codes on reimbursed drugs are available in NorPD from 2009 and may be used as surrogate measures of diseases in the population.
- An excess occurrence of nine chronic diseases was observed in the young population of asthmatics, compared to the general population of Norway of the same age.
- A majority of the asthma population had one of the comorbidities measured and few had more than one.

Sponsors: The Research Council of Norway funded this work, grant number 175314/V50.

Conflict of interest statement: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Word count: 3157

ABSTRACT

Purpose:

To examine occurrence of chronic diseases and antimicrobial treatment in an asthma population 8-29 years old, compared to the general population.

Methods:

In this cross-sectional study, the asthma population was identified from the general population (retrieved from a census covering the entire Norwegian population) by using filled prescriptions on asthma drugs as a proxy measure of current asthma. The outcome was excess occurrence of specific diseases (comorbidity) among asthmatics, compared to the age-specific general population. Diseases were defined by filled prescriptions with specific diagnostic codes (ICPC-2 or ICD-10) during a 1-year period in the Norwegian Prescription Database. Nine chronic diseases were examined: ADHD, epilepsy, migraine, mental illness, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, autoimmune disorders, GORD, allergy. Additionally, antibacterials recommended for respiratory tract infections and antivirals were examined (defined by ATC codes). Standardized Morbidity Ratios (SMR) for each disease was calculated.

Results:

59% of the asthmatics had at least one of nine chronic diseases examined, compared to 18% in the general population. Few asthmatics had more than one additional chronic disease (6% of males, 8% of females). SMRs were increased for all diseases except diabetes, implying higher than expected occurrence of the specific diseases in asthmatics. This pattern was observed in both age groups (8-19 and 20-29 years) and genders. Allergy and GORD had highest SMR (range 3.2-4.8) while the other diseases were in the range 1.2-2.5.

Conclusions:

An excess occurrence of comorbidities was found in asthmatics. A majority of asthmatics had one additional chronic disease, and few had more than one.

INTRODUCTION

There is increasing recognition that co-occurrence of multiple chronic diseases is common also in children and has a significant impact on the overall health of patients.¹⁻³ The extent and impact of comorbidities in asthmatics has received little attention compared to other chronic diseases like cardiovascular diseases and diabetes, possibly because multimorbidity increases with age¹ while asthma is most prevalent in young populations.

From the societal point of view, health service use is higher in asthmatics with comorbidities and places an extra burden on the healthcare system.^{4,5} At the patient level, comorbidities influence several aspects of asthma, such as detection and diagnosis, severity and control of asthma symptoms.⁶⁻⁸ Identification and treatment of comorbidities is part of the core management of asthma, especially for more severe cases.⁹ Associations between asthma and allergy, gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD) and infections are well-established⁹⁻¹² while several other diseases have also been associated with asthma in population-based studies.^{7,13-15} However, few studies include children and adolescents.

There is currently no systematic recording of diagnostic information in the Norwegian homedwelling population. Thus, opportunities to study the occurrence of diseases in the population have been limited. However, a change in the reimbursement system for drugs may enable us to assess occurrence of diseases in the whole population. From March 2009, it became mandatory to provide the diagnostic code (ICPC-2 or ICD-10) of the treated medical condition on all reimbursed prescriptions. The Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD)¹⁶ is one of the first nationwide prescription databases to record this information. These codes may serve as surrogate measures of the diseases present among individuals in ambulatory care. The diseases studied in the present paper have been associated with asthma in previous population-based studies^{7,13-15}, are expected to be of some magnitude in this young population, drug treatment is central to the management of the disease, and drugs are reimbursable.

The aim of the present study was to examine the occurrence of specific types of chronic diseases and antimicrobial treatment in an actively treated asthma population of children,

adolescents and young adults, compared to the occurrence in the Norwegian general population of the same age.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data sources and study design

We conducted a cross-sectional study utilizing data from three datasets covering the entire Norwegian population. The datasets were linked by using the unique, encrypted 11-digit person identity number (PIN), assigned to all individuals residing in Norway.¹⁶

The latest *Population and Housing Census (PHC)* included all persons resident in Norway on 3rd November 2001 according to the Central Population Register (CPR).¹⁷ The PHC provided a closed cohort of all Norwegians residents and variables used were the PIN, gender and birth year.

The *Central Population Register (CPR)* contains continuously updated data on every person residing in Norway.¹⁸ The CPR provided information on date of death and emigration between the PHC in 2001 and the end of the study period.

The *Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD)* stores electronic data on all filled prescriptions from Norwegian pharmacies since January 2004. Pharmacies are obliged to send the data, irrespective of reimbursement status of the dispensed drugs and the prescribers' specialty and occupation.¹⁶ Thus, NorPD has complete coverage of drugs dispensed to the home-dwelling population. Variables from NorPD used in the present study were the PIN, date of dispensing drug, reimbursement code (diagnostic code from March 2009) and the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC)¹⁹ classification code of drugs.

Measure of comorbidities

Diagnostic codes from reimbursed drug prescriptions registered in NorPD were used to define the outcome (comorbidities).

Reimbursement scheme with diagnostic codes: Reimbursement of drug costs is a part of the national, tax-supported public health service which all Norwegians have unrestricted access to.²⁰ The drug reimbursement scheme is based on a list of conditions for which specified drugs can be reimbursed. Reimbursement should only be granted if the patient has a chronic condition where long term treatment is needed (at least 3 months of regular or intermittent treatment during a year). From March 2009, physicians were obliged to provide the diagnostic code of the condition being treated on prescriptions deemed eligible for reimbursement. Codes from either the International Classification of Diseases version 10 (ICD-10) or the International Classification of Primary Care version 2 (ICPC-2) can be used. The Norwegian Medicines Agency (NoMA) has defined about 20 additional codes for conditions that have no appropriate ICD-10 and/or ICPC-2 code, some of which has been included in our study (see comments in Table 1).

Occurrence of a comorbid disease: The presence of a comorbid chronic disease in an individual was defined as filling at least one reimbursed prescription with a diagnostic code during a 1-year period. These diagnostic codes were used as surrogate measure of disease. The following nine chronic diseases were examined: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD, denoted "hyperkinetic disorder" in ICD-10 and ICPC-2), epilepsy, migraine, mental illness, cardiovascular disease, diabetes (type 1 and 2), autoimmune disorders, gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD) and allergy (Table 1).

To study occurrence of antimicrobial treatment (normally not reimbursed), ATC codes on drugs dispensed were used instead of diagnostic codes (Table 1). Antibacterials recommended in Norwegian guidelines21 for use in upper and lower respiratory tract infections were included, as well as antivirals used for influenza virus infections.

Comorbidity may be defined as the occurrence of one or more additional diseases in individuals who have an index disease.²² For brevity, the term "comorbidity" will be used in the present paper for the occurrence of any of the diseases also in the general population who do not necessarily have the index disease (asthma).

Index date and study period: From 3 March 2009, physicians were obliged to write diagnostic codes on all reimbursed prescriptions, and this date was therefore set as the index date. NorPD data on the outcome (comorbidity) for a 1-year period after the index date was retrieved for the Norwegian general population and for the study population of asthmatics.

Standard population: Norwegian general population

The standard population included all persons who participated in the PHC in 2001 and were under 30 years in 2009 (653,386 males, 620,453 females). Individuals who according to CPR data died or emigrated before the end of the study period (2 March 2010) were excluded (16,282 males, 18,024 females). Thus, 637,104 male and 602,429 female residents in Norway aged 8-29 years in 2009 comprised the standard population. Because the PHC was conducted in 2001, the lowest age class that could be studied was 8 years old.

Study population: Current asthmatics in the general population

The study population was all current asthmatics receiving drug treatment that could be identified in the standard population (20,207 males, 16,853 females). A proxy measure based on dispensed asthma drugs was used to identify this population, a measure described in previous NorPD studies.^{23,24} Included were those who had filled prescription for an asthma drug at least once in the year before and at least once in the year after the index date. Only prescriptions with reimbursement codes for asthma were included. Asthma drugs were defined as inhaled β 2-agonists (ATC code R03AC), inhaled glucocorticoids (R03BA), combination inhalers with β 2-agonists and glucocorticoids (R03AK), and leukotriene receptor antagonists (R03DC).

Statistical methods

The number of comorbidities occurring in the asthma population and in the general population was examined as the proportion of the populations having respectively 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 or more comorbidities (Table 2).

Associations of asthma with specific comorbidities were examined by calculating Standardized Morbidity Ratios (SMR) (Table 3). The occurrence of each disease (prevalence proportion) was calculated for 1-year age-specific groups in the general population and separately for males and females. From these prevalence proportions, Expected counts (E) in the asthma population were calculated, while Observed counts (O) were retrieved in the same manner as for the general population. The O/E ratio (SMR) was calculated with 95% confidence intervals from the Poisson distribution. Results were stratified by gender and age (8-19 years and 20-29 years). Note that the magnitude of the SMRs is not directly comparable between the different genders and age groups, because they are compared to different standard populations.

The study was approved by the Norwegian Data Inspectorate, and the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics evaluated it.

RESULTS

Occurrence of nine chronic comorbidities was studied. 59% of male and female asthmatics had at least one of the comorbidities, compared to 18% of males and females in the general population (Table 2). Relatively few in the asthma population had more than one of these comorbidities (6% of males, 8% of females). When antimicrobial treatment was included, 69% of male and 71% of female asthmatics had at least one comorbidity, compared to 30% and 34% in the general population.

The occurrence of specific comorbidities in the asthma population is presented in Table 3. The prevalence proportion (O/n) of asthmatics having allergy was above 50% for all groups, while antibacterial treatment was also relatively prevalent in asthmatics (13-31%). The prevalence was higher in the oldest age group for all comorbidities except allergy in males, ADHD and antivirals. The largest percentage point difference in prevalence between the low and high age group were observed for migraine in females and for mental illness, as well as for the highly prevalent diseases (allergy, antimicrobials).

The SMR estimates generally showed an increased occurrence for all diseases, except diabetes (Table 3). This pattern was consistent in all gender and age groups and implies a higher than expected occurrence of the specific diseases in the asthma population compared to the gender- and age-specific general population. GORD and allergy had high SMRs (range 3.2-4.8). The other diseases were in the range 1.3-2.1, except for diabetes and ADHD which showed inconsistent patterns.

Diabetes was the only disease that did not have a consistent increased SMR for asthmatics, and was even below 1.0 for the youngest females. In an additional analysis, we only included the diagnostic codes that are more specific for diabetes type 1 (ICPC "T89 Insulin-dependent

8

diabetes mellitus", and ICD "E10 Diabetes mellitus type I"). This gave SMR of 1.3 [1.0-1.6] for youngest males and 1.1 [0.8-1.5] for the oldest males. For females, the numbers were respectively 0.8 [0.5-1.1] and 0.9 [0.6-1.3].

DISCUSSION

In this study of children, adolescents and young adults, we found that chronic diseases were present more often in asthmatics than in the general population. Likewise, use of specific antimicrobial treatments occurred more frequently among asthmatics. The present study is the first to examine asthma and comorbid diseases in the entire Norwegian population by using the diagnostic codes from NorPD. Our results obtained from diagnostic codes on prescriptions are essentially in line with studies that obtained diagnostic information from administrative data or self-reports. ^{7,13-15} However, most studies are in adults and few have reported age-stratified results.

Adams et al.¹⁴ found associations of asthma and diabetes but not arthritis in adults 18-34 years old, but an association was present in older age groups. Cazzola et al.¹³ reported hypertension, allergic rhinitis, diabetes, dyslipidemia, depression and GORD to be associated with asthma. Associations were generally weaker in 15-34 year olds compared to older adults except for allergic rhinitis, depression and diabetes. Prosser et al.¹⁵ found asthma to be associated with a wide range of diseases in adults, including infections in the lower and upper respiratory tract, depression, hypertension, diabetes and certain autoimmune disorders. Zhang et al.⁷ found associations with allergy, arthritis/rheumatism, hypertension, diabetes and mental illness in an adult population. Most chronic conditions were more prevalent in adults but allergies and mental illness were more frequent in 18-34 year olds.

In studies of specific diseases, anxiety and depression has been associated with asthma²⁵⁻²⁷ and a bidirectional relationship has been suggested.²⁵ The association may be dependent on how asthma is defined.^{28,29} Asthma has been found to be associated with migraine in adults.^{30,31} In studies comparing epileptics to non-epileptics, an association with asthma has been reported.^{32,33} ADHD and asthma are most prevalent in children and adolescents, and this is reflected in our data by ADHD being one of the more prevalent comorbidities of asthma. Associations with ADHD have been reported in the literature, including a NorPD study that

used ATC codes as proxy measures for diagnosis of both diseases.^{34,35} Associations between diabetes and asthma has been found in several studies in adults.^{7,13-15} Our data had a relatively few diabetes cases among asthmatics and did not show a consistent association. Of note is that a high proportion of participants in our young study population are expected to be type 1 diabetics, while studies among adults will be predominated by type 2 diabetics. For GORD, the absolute numbers (prevalence) is lower in asthmatics in our study than reported in the literature among children¹¹ and adults¹², possibly because it has not been diagnosed and subsequently treated with prescription drugs (over-the-counter drugs are also available). However, the strong relative association (SMR) is reported in other studies as well.^{11,12} Links between asthma and allergies and respiratory infections are well known and receive much attention in asthma guidelines.^{9,10} An association between asthma and antibacterials is difficult to disentangle from associations of asthma and infections themselves, and the present study was not designed for this purpose.

Our measure of comorbidity will capture chronic diseases diagnosed by a physician, where the physician and the patient have chosen to treat with drugs in the ambulatory setting. The study is cross-sectional and the temporal sequence events can not be determined. The associations observed may have several explanations and we will discuss three possibilities.

First, there may be a genuinely increased co-occurrence of other diseases in asthmatics. This may be due to a pathway where one problem is central to development of the other. For example, the comorbidity may be a risk factor for development of asthma, or for triggering asthma symptoms and increasing severity. The causal link may be reversed, in that asthma contributes to development of other diseases. Alternatively, asthma and comorbidities may be indirectly linked via common genetic and environmental factors for development of disease.

Second, there may be a higher detection rate of comorbidities in asthmatics, i.e. detection bias occurs.³⁶ This may be an issue in any epidemiologic study where health care service use is measured. Asthmatics do more often than their healthy peers visit physicians for monitoring of the disease and prescription renewals. Any additional health problems more easily come to the attention of physicians and a prescription for a drug may ensue. This may also go the opposite direction in that asthma is more easily detected in individuals who have other reasons for visiting a physician. This kind of bias is probably most pertinent in milder, intermittent cases of asthma, and for comorbidities with a high proportion of subclinical cases

10

that are not usually detected. An increased detection rate of diabetes and epilepsy seems less likely due to the severity of these diseases. Furthermore, our definition of the asthma population will have excluded some milder cases of asthma and individuals who tried asthma drugs only once as part of diagnosing respiratory complaints.

Third, some individuals may have a lower threshold for seeking healthcare services including drug treatment, and/or some physicians have a lower threshold for setting a diagnosis and prescribing drugs. Use of healthcare services may be a learned behavior where asthmatics who often are in contact with their physician will likely be more aware of their illnesses and may have learned to use, and possibly overuse, healthcare services. In support of the latter explanation are studies reporting a higher occurrence of a broad range of different conditions in asthmatics.^{5,7,13-15} It would be interesting to find a "reference disease" that is not linked to asthma and study if there is an excess occurrence of this "reference disease".

The asthma drugs used to identify our asthma population are the mainstay of asthma pharmacotherapy⁹ and are quite specifically used for asthma at this age. Largely all patients on anti-asthma treatment in Norway receive at least one of the included drugs²³ and a high validity of this measure was found in 7-year olds.²⁴ In the present study, we used a stricter criterion for defining the asthma population in that asthmatics had to fill at least two prescriptions and at least one year apart. Thus, the inception of asthma complaints took place before the 1-year study period and lasted for at least one year (persistently or episodes of asthma at least one year apart).

A limitation of the study is the cross-sectional design which unable us to determine a causal relationship between comorbidities and the occurrence of asthma. The recording of diagnostic codes has only recently been implemented but when more years of data are accumulated, long-term studies can be done to confirm our findings and to disentangle sequence of events. The time period of one year may be too short to capture some comorbidities, e.g. individuals with infrequent episodes of migraine may have long gaps between prescription refills. The length of study period is especially pertinent when studying a time-varying disease such as asthma where disease activity, and the use of asthma drugs,²³ is variable over shorter and longer time periods. A possible detection bias was discussed above. A further limitation is that for allergy and GORD, over-the-counter drugs without reimbursement are available. Some individuals may also have used non-reimbursed prescription drugs. This is probably

11

most relevant for migraine and mental illnesses, if the physician deems the disease as not chronic or not properly diagnosed yet. Patients have economic incentives for receiving their drugs on reimbursement but acquiring a prescription may be more convenient for asthmatics due to higher physician visit frequency.

One of the strengths of our study is that we use individual level data from three complete, nationwide datasets. NorPD captures all individuals receiving prescription drugs in the ambulatory care setting, including drugs prescribed by specialists in secondary and tertiary care. The universal healthcare system should ensure access to necessary healthcare services for all residents. Thus, we could examine the occurrence of a broad range of diseases in the Norwegian general population of the entire age range. The method for identifying chronic diseases is consistent between diseases and does not rest on subjective judgment by patients about their disease as in self-report studies, while recall bias is eliminated. However, the choice by patients and physicians to use drugs for a medical condition may be influenced by subjective judgments, as discussed above.

Comorbidities may influence and complicate several aspects of asthma, such as detection and diagnosis, severity and control of asthma symptoms.⁶⁻⁸ Furthermore, the response to asthma therapy may be altered (e.g. obesity alter response to corticosteroids³⁷) or adherence to asthma therapy decreases (e.g. depression^{28,38}). The drugs used for the treatment of comorbid diseases can have detrimental effects on asthma (e.g. NSAIDs⁹).

In summary, by using a nationwide prescription database with diagnostic codes we have shown an excess occurrence of several chronic diseases in the young population of asthmatics, compared to the age-specific general population of Norway. 59% of the asthma population had at least one additional chronic disease, while relatively few had more than one additional disease.

Table 1: Comorbidities and corresponding diagnostic codes (ICPC-2 and ICD-10 codes) examined in the Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD).

| | Comorbidity | ICPC-2 | ICD-10 | Comment |
|---------------|--|---|--|---|
| | Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) ^a | P81 | F90 | a) Denoted as hyperkinetic disorder in ICPC and ICD coding systems. |
| | Epilepsy | N88 | G40 | |
| | Migraine | N89 | G43 | |
| | Mental illness -depression -anxiety | -74 ^{b;} P74; P76 | -74 ^{b;} F41; F32 | b) Reimbursement code for anxiety disorders, defined by NoMA (replaces ICPC and ICD codes). |
| ses | Cardiovascular disease -hypercholesterolaemia -hypertension | -26 ^{°;} -27 ^{°;} K86-87 | -26 ^{°;} -27 ^{°;} I10-13; I15 | c) Reimbursement codes for primary and secondary prevention of atherosclerotic disease, defined by NoMA (replaces ICPC and ICD codes). |
| nic disea | Diabetes ^d -type 1 -type 2 | T89-90 | E10-11; E13-14 | d) ICPC codes do not distinguish between diabetes type 1 and 2. |
| Chro | Autoimmune disorders -arthritis related diseases -systemic connective tissue disorders -ankylosing spondylitis -noninfective enteritis and colitis -psoriasis | L88; L99; D94; S91 | M05-08; M13; M30-35; M45; K50-51; L40 | |
| | Gastro-Oesophageal Reflux Disease (GORD) ^e | D84 | K21 | e) OTC drugs also on market but are not reimbursed. |
| | Allergy ^f -allergic rhinitis -allergic conjunctivitis -atopic dermatitis -urticaria | R97; F71; S87; S98 | J30; H10.1 ⁹ ; L20; L50 | f) OTC drugs also on market but are not reimbursed.g) NoMA specifies that only the 4th level code H10.1 is eligible for reimbursement. |
| treatment | Antibacterials ^h -upper and lower respiratory tract infections | ATC J01AA02 J01CE0 | codes: ; J01CA04;)2; J01FA | h) Drugs (ATC codes) recommended by guidelines [†] for treatment of upper and lower respiratory tract infections. |
| antimicrobial | Antivirals ⁱ -influenza virus infection | ATC codes: J05AH01; J05AH02 | | i) H1N1 influenza during study period. Pharmacists could write prescriptions and dipsense drugs according to set regulations, without consulting physicians. |

Abbreviations: NoMA, Norwegian Medicines Agency; OTC, Over-the-counter-drugs (drugs sold without precription); ATC, Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification system for drugs; ICPC-2, International Classification of Primary Care, 2nd edition; ICD-10, International Statistical Classification of Diseases, 10th revision.

[†] Norwegian Directorate of Health. [Norwegian national guidelines for treatment with antibiotics in general practice]. 2008. Available from: http://www.helsebiblioteket.no/microsite/Antibiotikaretningslinjer (in Norwegian).

| | Ma | iles | Females | | | |
|-------------------------------|--|---|--|---|--|--|
| Number of comorbidities | % of asthma population ^a (n=20,207) | % of general population (n=637,104) | % of asthma population ^a (n=16,853) | % of general population (n=602,429) | | |
| Chronic diseases ^b | | | | | | |
| 0 | 40.8 | 82.4 | 41.4 | 81.9 | | |
| 1 | 53.3 | 16.2 | 50.4 | 16.2 | | |
| 2 | 5.3 | 1.3 | 6.9 | 1.6 | | |
| 3 | 0.6 | 0.1 | 1.0 | 0.2 | | |
| 4+ | 0.1 | 0.0 | 0.2 | 0.0 | | |
| Chronic diseases and | | | | | | |
| | 30.7 | 70.2 | 29.1 | 66.4 | | |
| 1 | 48.2 | 24.3 | 44.6 | 26.3 | | |
| 2 | 17.3 | 4.8 | 20.0 | 6.1 | | |
| 3 | 3.3 | 0.6 | 5.2 | 1.0 | | |
| 4+ | 0.5 | 0.1 | 1.1 | 0.2 | | |

Table 2: Number of comorbid diseases occurring in the asthma population and the general population (8-29 years old) during a 1-year period.

a) Not adjusted to the age-distribution of the general poulation.

b) 9 different comorbidities measured, see Table 1.

c) 11 different comorbidities measured, see Table 1.

Table 3: Standardized Morbidity Ratio (SMR) for occurrence of comorbid diseases in the asthma population (8-29 years old) during a 1-year period (Reference: Occurrence of diseases in the general population by gender and 1-year age specific groups).

| | | | Males ^ª | | Females ^b | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------|----------------------|---------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------|-------------|
| Comorbidity ^c | Occurrence (O/n) | Observed count (O) | Expected count (E) | SMR (O/E) | [95% CI] | Occurrence (O/n) | Observed count (O) | Expected count (E) | SMR (O/E) | [95% CI] |
| 8-19 years | | | | | | | | | | |
| ADHD | 4.0 % | 585 | 469 | 1.2 | [1.1 , 1.4] | 2.2 % | 223 | 129 | 1.7 | [1.5 , 2.0] |
| Epilepsy | 1.0 % | 149 | 84 | 1.8 | [1.5 , 2.1] | 1.1 % | 111 | 56 | 2.0 | [1.6 , 2.4] |
| Migraine | 0.9 % | 133 | 76 | 1.7 | [1.5 , 2.1] | 2.0 % | 203 | 118 | 1.7 | [1.5 , 2.0] |
| Mental illness | 0.4 % | 65 | 39 | 1.7 | [1.3 , 2.1] | 0.9 % | 90 | 67 | 1.3 | [1.1 , 1.7] |
| Cardiovascular | 0.1 % | 20 | 13 | 1.5 | [1.0 , 2.3] | 0.2 % | 21 | 12 | 1.8 | [1.1 , 2.7] |
| Diabetes | 0.6 % | 83 | 62 | 1.3 | [1.1 , 1.7] | 0.4 % | 37 | 43 | 0.9 | [0.6 , 1.2] |
| Autoimmune | 0.7 % | 103 | 66 | 1.6 | [1.3,1.9] | 1.0 % | 104 | 67 | 1.5 | [1.3 , 1.9] |
| GORD | 1.6 % | 236 | 52 | 4.6 | [4.0 , 5.2] | 1.3 % | 134 | 34 | 4.0 | [3.3 , 4.7] |
| Allergy | 56.1 % | 8258 | 1 977 | 4.2 | [4.1,4.3] | 51.8 % | 5274 | 1 098 | 4.8 | [4.7 , 4.9] |
| Antibacterials ^d | 13.8 % | 2024 | 1 212 | 1.7 | [1.6,1.7] | 19.6 % | 1994 | 1 212 | 1.6 | [1.6,1.7] |
| Antivirals ^{d,e} | 13.8 % | 2033 | 986 | 2.1 | [2.0 , 2.2] | 13.1 % | 1330 | 684 | 1.9 | [1.8 , 2.1] |
| 20-29 years | | | | | | | | | | |
| ADHD | 1.6 % | 89 | 39 | 2.3 | [1.8 , 2.8] | 1.6 % | 108 | 42 | 2.5 | [2.1,3.1] |
| Epilepsy | 1.3 % | 69 | 39 | 1.8 | [1.4 , 2.2] | 1.4 % | 93 | 49 | 1.9 | [1.6 , 2.3] |
| Migraine | 1.1 % | 60 | 37 | 1.6 | [1.3 , 2.1] | 5.6 % | 370 | 198 | 1.9 | [1.7 , 2.1] |
| Mental illness | 4.5 % | 249 | 134 | 1.9 | [1.6 , 2.1] | 7.7 % | 510 | 266 | 1.9 | [1.8 , 2.1] |
| Cardiovascular | 1.3 % | 69 | 39 | 1.8 | [1.4 , 2.2] | 1.2 % | 77 | 40 | 1.9 | [1.5 , 2.4] |
| Diabetes | 0.8 % | 45 | 41 | 1.1 | [0.8 , 1.5] | 1.0 % | 64 | 46 | 1.4 | [1.1 , 1.8] |
| Autoimmune | 1.9 % | 104 | 80 | 1.3 | [1.1 , 1.6] | 2.8 % | 188 | 121 | 1.5 | [1.3 , 1.8] |
| GORD | 3.3 % | 179 | 56 | 3.2 | [2.8 , 3.7] | 2.7 % | 183 | 52 | 3.5 | [3.0 , 4.0] |
| Allergy | 51.5 % | 2831 | 591 | 4.8 | [4.6 , 5.0] | 55.9 % | 3729 | 903 | 4.1 | [4.0 , 4.3] |
| Antibacterials ^d | 22.9 % | 1259 | 777 | 1.6 | [1.5 , 1.7] | 31.7 % | 2113 | 1 370 | 1.5 | [1.5,1.6] |
| Antivirals ^{d,e} | 9.7 % | 534 | 251 | 2.1 | [2.0 , 2.3] | 11.1 % | 739 | 389 | 1.9 | [1.8 , 2.0] |

Abbreviations: ADHD, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (hyperkinetic disorder); GORD, Gastro-Oesophageal Reflux Disease.

a) Males n=20,207 (8-19 years n=14,709; 20-29 years n=5.498).

b) Females n=16,853 (8-19 years n=10,187; 20-29 years n=6,666).

c) Indviduals that have more than one comorbidity is counted on each comorbidity (sum of observed counts (O) on all comorbidities does not equate to the study population size).

d) From ATC codes on drugs.

e) H1N1 influenza epidemic during the observed 1-year period.

REFERENCE LIST

- van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Metsemakers JFM, et al. Multimorbidity in General Practice: Prevalence, Incidence, and Determinants of Co-Occurring Chronic and Recurrent Diseases. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1998; 51: 367-375. DOI:10.1016/S0895-4356(97)00306-5
- 2 Gijsen R, Hoeymans N, Schellevis FG, et al. Causes and consequences of comorbidity: A review. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2001; 54: 661-674. DOI:10.1016/S0895-4356(00)00363-2
- Uijen AAvan de Lisdonk EH. Multimorbidity in primary care: Prevalence and trend over the last 20 years. *Eur J Gen Pract* 2008; 14: 28-32.
 DOI:10.1080/13814780802436093
- 4 Starfield B, Lemke KW, Bernhardt T, et al. Comorbidity: implications for the importance of primary care in 'case' management. *Ann Fam Med* 2003; 1: 8-14.
- 5 Gershon AS, Wang C, Guan J, et al. Burden of comorbidity in individuals with asthma. *Thorax* 2010; 65: 612-618. DOI:10.1136/thx.2009.131078
- 6 de Groot EP, Duiverman EJ, Brand PLP. Comorbidities of asthma during childhood: possibly important, yet poorly studied. *Eur Respir J* 2010; 36: 671-678.
 DOI:10.1183/09031936.00185709
- 7 Zhang T, Carleton BC, Prosser RJ, et al. The added burden of comorbidity in patients with asthma. *J Asthma* 2009; 46: 1021-1026. DOI:10.3109/02770900903350473
- 8 Boulet LP. Influence of comorbid conditions on asthma. *Eur Respir J* 2009; 33: 897-906. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00121308
- 9 Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA). Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention. 2009. Available from: http://www.ginasthma.org.
- 10 Bousquet J, Khaltaev N, Cruz AA, et al. Allergic Rhinitis and its Impact on Asthma (ARIA) 2008*. *Allergy* 2008; 63: 8-160. DOI:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2007.01620.x

- Thakkar K, Boatright RO, Gilger MA, et al. Gastroesophageal Reflux and Asthma in Children: A Systematic Review. *Pediatrics* 2010; 125: e925-e930.
 DOI:10.1542/peds.2009-2382
- Havemann BD, Henderson CA, El-Serag HB. The association between gastrooesophageal reflux disease and asthma: a systematic review. *Gut* 2007; 56: 1654-1664. DOI:10.1136/gut.2007.122465
- Cazzola M, Calzetta L, Bettoncelli G, et al. Asthma and comorbid medical illness. *Eur Respir J* 2011; 38: 42-49. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00140310
- 14 Adams RJ, Wilson DH, Taylor AW, et al. Coexistent Chronic Conditions and Asthma Quality of Life*. *Chest* 2006; 129: 285-291. DOI:10.1378/chest.129.2.285
- 15 Prosser R, Carleton B, Smith A. The comorbidity burden of the treated asthma patient population in British Columbia. *Chronic Dis Can* 2010; 30: 46-55.
- Furu K, Wettermark B, Andersen M, et al. The Nordic countries as a cohort for pharmacoepidemiological research. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* 2010; 106: 86-94. DOI:10.1111/j.1742-7843.2009.00494.x
- 17 Statistics Norway. 2003. <u>http://www.ssb.no/vis/fob2001_en/gjennomfoering_en.html</u> (accessed 8 December 2010).
- 18 Hammer H. [The central population registry in medical research]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2002; 122: 2550.
- 19 WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. *Guidelines for ATC classification and DDD assignment.*, Norwegian Institute of Public Health: Oslo, Norway, 2010.
- 20 Hågå ASverre JM. Pricing and reimbursement of pharmaceuticals in Norway. *The European Journal of Health Economics* 2002; 3: 215-220. DOI:10.1007/s10198-002-0135-4
- 21 Norwegian Directorate of Health. [Norwegian national guidelines for treatment with antibiotics in general practice]. 2008. Available from: http://www.helsebiblioteket.no/microsite/Antibiotikaretningslinjer (in Norwegian).

- 22 van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Roos S, et al. Problems in determining occurrence rates of multimorbidity. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2001; 54: 675-679. DOI:10.1016/S0895-4356(00)00358-9
- 23 Karlstad Ø, Nafstad P, Tverdal A, et al. Prevalence, incidence and persistence of antiasthma medication use in 2- to 29-year-olds: a nationwide prescription study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2010; 66: 399-406. DOI:10.1007/s00228-009-0749-x
- 24 Furu K, Karlstad Ø, Skurtveit S, et al. High validity of mother-reported use of antiasthmatics among children: a comparison with a population-based prescription database. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2011; 64: 878-884. DOI:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.10.014
- 25 Chida Y, Hamer M, Steptoe A. A Bidirectional Relationship Between Psychosocial Factors and Atopic Disorders: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Psychosom Med* 2008; 70: 102-116. DOI:10.1097/PSY.0b013e31815c1b71
- 26 Goodwin RD, Pagura J, Cox B, et al. Asthma and mental disorders in Canada: Impact on functional impairment and mental health service use. *J Psychosom Res* 2010; 68: 165-173. DOI:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2009.06.005
- 27 Walters P, Schofield P, Howard L, et al. The Relationship between Asthma and Depression in Primary Care Patients: A Historical Cohort and Nested Case Control Study. *PLoS ONE* 2011; 6: e20750. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0020750
- 28 Opolski MWilson I. Asthma and depression: a pragmatic review of the literature and recommendations for future research. *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health* 2005; 1: 18. DOI:10.1186/1745-0179-1-18
- 29 Janson C, Bjornsson E, Hetta J, et al. Anxiety and depression in relation to respiratory symptoms and asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1994; 149: 930-934.
- 30 Aamodt AH, Stovner LJ, Langhammer A, et al. Is headache related to asthma, hay fever, and chronic bronchitis? The Head-HUNT study. *Headache* 2007; 47: 204-212. DOI:10.1111/j.1526-4610.2006.00597.x

- Le H, Tfelt-Hansen P, Russell MB, et al. Co-morbidity of migraine with somatic disease in a large population-based study. *Cephalalgia* 2011; 31: 43-64. DOI:10.1177/0333102410373159
- Ottman R, Lipton RB, Ettinger AB, et al. Comorbidities of epilepsy: Results from the Epilepsy Comorbidities and Health (EPIC) survey. *Epilepsia* 2011; 52: 308-315. DOI:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2010.02927.x
- 33 Elliott JO, Lu B, Shneker B, et al. Comorbidity, health screening, and quality of life among persons with a history of epilepsy. *Epilepsy & Behavior* 2009; 14: 125-129. DOI:10.1016/j.yebeh.2008.10.013
- 34 Fasmer OB, Riise T, Eagan TM, et al. Comorbidity of Asthma With ADHD. Journal of Attention Disorders 2010; Epub ahead of print. DOI:10.1177/1087054710372493
- 35 Schmitt J, Buske-Kirschbaum A, Roessner V. Is atopic disease a risk factor for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder? A systematic review. *Allergy* 2010; 65: 1506-1524. DOI:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2010.02449.x
- 36 Pharmacoepidemiology, Fourth ed. Strom, BL (ed). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: Chichester, UK, 2005.
- Peters-Golden M, Swern A, Bird SS, et al. Influence of body mass index on the response to asthma controller agents. *Eur Respir J* 2006; 27: 495-503.
 DOI:10.1183/09031936.06.00077205
- 38 Bender BG. Risk Taking, Depression, Adherence, and Symptom Control in Adolescents and Young Adults with Asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2006; 173: 953-957. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200511-1706PP

Appendix I

Pilot questionnaire for 7-year old children in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa)



Riv av dette arket og legg det i den vedlagte lille konvolutten og deretter i svarkonvolutten sammen med spørreskjemaet ditt.



| Det hadde vært fint om du kunne gi oss din e-post adresse og mobiltelefonnummer slik at vi eventuelt kan kontakte dere igjen vedrørende Den norske mor og barn undersøkelsen. |
|---|
| Mavn: |
| E-post adresse: |
| Mobiltelefonnummer: |
| Riv av arket og legg det i den vedlagte lille konvolutten og deretter i svarkonvolutten sammen med spørreskjemaet ditt. |
| |

| 02/01/08 den norske | Mor | & | barn | undersøkelsen | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------------------|-----|---|------|---------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Spørreskjema 7, når barnet er ca 7 år | | | | | | | | | | | |

1

Skjemaet skal leses av en maskin. Det er derfor viktig at du legger vekt på følgende ved utfyllingen:

• I de små avkrysningsboksene setter du et kryss for det svaret som du mener passer best, slik: X

Hvis du mener at du har satt kryss i feil boks, kan du rette det ved å fylle boksen helt, slik:

Oppgi dag, måned og år for utfylling av skjemaet

+



år

(skriv årstall med 4 tall, f.eks. 2008)

+

Sykdom og helseplager

| 1. Har barnet eller har det noen gang hatt noen av følgende langvarige sykdommer eller helseproblemer? | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|----|---|---|------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Ja | Hvis ja, hvor gammelt var barnet ved første tegn på sykdommen. | Hvis barnet er kvitt sykdommen, ved hvilken alder skjedde det? | Ja, har sykdommen fremdeles. | Sett kryss hvis sykdommen er diagnostisert av lege | | | | | |
| 1 Astma | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 2 Allergi i øyne eller nese/høysnue | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 3 Atopisk eksem/barneeksem | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 4 Nedsatt hørsel | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 5 Nedsatt syn | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 6 Overvekt | | år + | år | | | | | | | |
| 7 For liten vektøkning | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 8 Søvnproblemer | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 9 Reumatoid artritt/leddgikt | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 10 Hjertefeil | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 11 Crohns sykdom | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 12 Ulcerøs collitt | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 13 Kronisk utmattelsessyndrom (ME) | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 14 Cøliaki | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 15 Diabetes | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 16 Epilepsi | | år | år | | □ + | | | | | |
| 17 Cerebral parese | | år | år | | | | | | | |
| 18 Anemi (lav blodprosent) + | | år | år | | Forts. neste side | | | | | |

| | | | 2 | | | | | |
|---|---------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------|--------------------|---------------|-------------------------------|
| 19 Kreft 02/01/08 | | | år | | år | | | |
| 20 Forsinket motorisk utvikling | | | år | | år | | | + |
| 21 Forsinket eller avvikende språkutvikling | , 🗆 | | år | | år | | | |
| 22 Hyperaktivitet/ADHD + | | | år | | år | | | |
| 23 Autistiske trekk/autisme | | | år | | år | | | |
| 24 Asperger syndrom | | | år | | år | | | |
| 25 Atferdsproblemer (vanskelig og uregjerlig) | | | år | | år | | | |
| 26 Emosjonelle vansker/ (trist og engstelig) | | | år | | år | | | |
| 27 Allergi/intoleranse mot melk | | | år | | år | | | |
| 28 Allergi/intoleranse mot egg | | | år | | år | | | |
| 29 Allergi/intoleranse mot fisk | | | år | | år | | | |
| 30 Allergi/intoleranse mot andre matvarer | | | + år | | år | | | |
| Hvis ja, hvilke? Rug Citrus frukter Hvete Soya | a 🗌 Skalld | yr 🗌 Pea | nøtter 🗌 N | øtter (andre | enn pea | ınøtter) 🗌 Annet | | |
| 2. Har barnet brukt medisin, spray, inha Nei Ja | lator eller a | ndre med | ikamenter f | or astma i l | øpet av | det siste året? | | |
| 3. Hvis ja, navn på medisin barnet bruke | er <u>fast</u> | | | | | | | |
| 4. Hvis ja, navn på medisin barnet bruke | er <u>ved anfall</u> | | | | | | | |
| 5. Hvis ja, når brukte barnet astmamedi | siner sist? ned Sis | ste året | | | | | | |
| 6. Har barnet noen gang hatt noen av fø Angi også hvor mange ganger barnet | lgende sym har vært pl | ptomer e aget av d | ller helsepla ette de siste | ager? Hvis j e 12 måned | ja, kryss ler. | av for i hvilken a | lder. | |
| + | Hatt | symptom Ja. | ner Hvis ja Før 3 | i, ved hvilke år 3-5 år | n alder 6-7år | Antall ganger | r siste 12 mr | nd? |
| 1 Piping/hvesing i brystet | | | | | | | | |
| 2 Tetthet i brystet | | | | | | | | |
| 3 Nattlig hoste uten forkjølelse | | | | | | | | |
| 4 Tetthet/ piping i brystet under eller etter f | ysisk aktivite | t 🗌 | | | | | | |
| 5 Rennende nese uten forkjølelse | | | | | | | | |
| 6 Kløe/renning fra øyne uten forkjølelse | | | | | | | | + |
| 7 Kløende utslett som har kommet og gått i m | inst 6 månede | er 🗌 | | | | | | ⁻ orts. neste side |

| 3 | | | | | | | | | |
|---|--------------------------|------------|----------------|--------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------------------|----------|
| 8 Magesmenter | | | | | | | | | |
| 9 Migrene + | | | | | | | | | + |
| 10 Annen hodepine | | | | | | | | | |
| 11 Oppkast/diaré | | | | | | | | | |
| 12 Feberkramper | | | | | | | | | |
| 13 Halsbetennelse | | | | | | | | | |
| 14 Ørebetennelse | | | | | | | | | |
| 15 Bronkitt | | | | | | | | | |
| 16 Lungebetennelse | | | | | | | | | |
| 17 Urinveisinfeksjon | | | | | | | | | |
| 18 Bruddskader | | | | | | | | | |
| 19 Andre skader | | + | | | | | | | |
| 20 Hjernehinnebetennelse/meningitt | | | | | | | | | |
| 21 Andre symptomer eller sykdommer | | | | | | | | | |
| Beskriv hvilke | | | | | | | | | |
| Levevaner og livsstil | | | | | | | | | |
| 7. Hvor mange dager har barnet vært borte fra sko hatt avbrudd i lek eller fritidsaktivitet på grunn av | olen eller sykdom? | | 10. U per d | tenom s lag bruk | koletid på er barnet v | en vanlig h /anligvis på | verdag: Hvo TV, video, e | r mange ti lektroniske | mer e |
| Antall dager borte fra skolen siste 3 mnd. | dager | | Somr Vinte | Mindre e mer [r [| enn 1 time | 1-2 timer | 3-4 timer | r 5 timer | r el mer |
| Antali dager avdrudd i lek/tritidsaktivitet siste 3 mnd. | | dager | 11. H | ar barne et av de | et badet i e siste 12 m | et innendør: åneder? | s svømmeba | sseng | + |
| 8. Utenom skoletid: Omtrent hvor mange timer per barnet fysisk aktivitet eller idrett (for eksempel syl hopping på trampoline, ski, fotball o.l)? | r uke driv ding, turr | er 1, | □ N □ I | ei | +i1 | Antall time | r per måned | | 1 |
| Mindre 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 enn 1 time timer timer timer timer Sommer Vinter |) 11 tin r eller r | ner ner | J; | a, av og a, ukentli | ig | Antall time | r per uke | |] |
| + | | | 12. H | vor ofte | kommer t | arnet seg t | t <mark>il skolen ved</mark> | l hjelp av Vanliqvis | Alltid |
| 9. Utenom skoletid på en vanlig hverdag: Hvor mange timer per dag er barnet vanligvis utendørs? | | | | ′sykle kjørt | | | | | |
| Sommer timer | | | Med | kollektivl | transport | | | | |
| Vinter timer | | | 13. H | lvor lanç | avstand e | er det mello | m barnets b | olig og sku | olen? |

☐ Mindre enn 1 km ☐ 1-2 km ☐ 3-4 km ☐ Over 4 km

| Λ |
|---|
| 4 |
| |

| 14. Hvor m@2/0e//0gner sover barnet vanligvis i gjennomsnitt per natt på hverdager? | 23. Er det dyr i barnets hjem? |
|--|---|
| Antall timer + | |
| 15. Bor du sammen med barnets far? | 24. Hvis ja, hvilke? Hund Fugl Katt Andre pelsdyr (marsvin, kanin o.l) |
| 16. Hvis nei, Hvor mye er barnet sammen med henholdsvis mor og far? Mor Far | 25. Er barnet i kontakt med gårdsdyr minst en gang i løpet av en uke? Nei |
| Mer enn halvparten av tiden | Ja |
| Mindre enn halvparten av tiden | 26. Hvis ja, hvilke? |
| | 🗌 Hest 🔄 Gris 🔄 Høner/fjærkre |
| | Sau/geit Storfe Annet |
| Aldri L L | |
| + 17. Hvordan er røykevanene i hjemmet nå for tiden? Deg selv Din samboer/ektefelle | 27. Hva er barnets høyde og vekt? Oppgi dato for målingen og kryss av for hvem som målte høyde og vekt. |
| Røyker ikke | Høvde m Vekt ka |
| Røyker av og til | |
| Røyker daglig | |
| | Dato for måling |
| Hvis daglig, antall sigaretter per dag per dag | dag måned år |
| Hvis av og til, antall sigaretter per uke per uke | |
| 18. I løpet av det siste året, har vedfyring blitt brukt til oppvarming i boligen der barnet bor? | 28. Hvor gammeit var barnet da nun/nan tikk sin første melketann? |
| 🗌 Nei | Antall måneder |
| 🗌 Ja | |
| 19. Hvis ja, er vedfyring hovedkilden til oppvarming i denne boligen? | 29. Hvor gammelt var barnet da hun/han felte sin første melketann? |
| □ Nei □ Ja | Antall år |
| 20, Hvis ja, bruker dere en vedovn laget før 1997? | 30. Hvor ofte børstes barnets tenner (av barnet selv eller andre)? |
| L Nei | |
| 🗆 Ja | Li En gang per dag |
| 21. I løpet av det siste året har dere noen gang brukt åpen peis? | 31. Får barnet for tiden hjelp til å pusse tennene? Daglig Sjelden eller aldri |
| └─ Nei, aldri | Flere ganger i uken |
| ☐ Ja, av og til | |
| □ Ja, ofte i vinterhalvåret | 32. Har barnet fått fyllinger i noen av tennene sine? |
| ☐ Ja, daglig i vinterhalvåret | ∟ Nei □ Ja |
| 22. Brukte dere vedfyring i barnets hjem i perioden før barnet fylte 3 år? □ | 33. Bruker barnet fluortabletter? |
| | ∐ Nei ∐ Ja |
| 🗆 Ja 🕇 | L Av og til |
| Barnets kosthold | |
| 34. Hvor mange skiver brød/knekkebrød spiser barnet ditt vanligv | is per dag? |
| Loff Antall skiver Lyst og mellomgrovt brød | Antall skiver |
| Grovt brød Antall skiver Knekkebrød | Antall skiver + |
| | |

35. Hvor offe spiser barnet ditt vanligvis følgende? Sett ett kryss for hver linje.

| Pålegg og frokostblandinger | Aldri | 1-3 ganger per mnd. eller sjeldnere | 1-2 ganger per uke | 3-4 ganger per uke | 5-6 ganger per uke | 1 gang per dag eller oftere |
|--|-------|--|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|
| Ost (gul/brun), prim | | | | | | |
| Kjøttpålegg (servelat, skinke ol) | | | | | | |
| Fiskepålegg, inkl kaviar | | | | | | |
| Egg | | | | | | |
| Syltetøy/honning | | | | | | |
| Sjokolade- og nøttepålegg | | | | | | |
| Corn Flakes, Honey Corn, Frosties o.l. | | | | | | |
| Müsli/havregryn/frokostblanding | | | | | | |
| Yoghurt naturell | | | | | | |
| Fruktyoghurt/drikkeyoghurt | | | | | | |

+

36. Hvor ofte drikker barnet ditt vanligvis følgende? (Sett ett kryss for hver drikke)

| Drikke | Aldri | 1-3 glass per mnd. eller sjeldnere | 1-3 glass per uke | 4-6 glass per uke | 1-3 glass per dag | 4 glass eller mer per dag |
|------------------------------------|-------|---------------------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|------------------------------|
| Helmelk (søt/sur) | | | | | | |
| Lett-/ekstra lettmelk/Skummet melk | | | | | | |
| Sjokolademelk | | | | | | |
| Biola/Culturamelk | | | | | | |
| Appelsinjuice, annen juice | | | | | | |
| Eplenektar / annen nektar | | | | | | |
| Saft med sukker | | | | | | |
| Saft kunstig søtet | | | | | | |
| Brus (Cola o.l.) | | | | | | |
| Brus kunstig søtet (Pepsi max o.l) | | | | | | |
| Vann | | | | | | |
| | | + | | | | |

37. Hvor ofte spiser barnet ditt vanligvis disse matvarene/rettene? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje.)

| Middagsmat | Aldri | 1-3 ganger per mnd. eller sjeldnere | 1-2 ganger per uke | 3-4 ganger per uke | 5-6 ganger per uke | 1 gang per dag eller oftere |
|--------------------------------|-------|--|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|
| Fet fisk (laks, makrell, sild) | | | | | | |
| Annen fisk (torsk, sei o.l) | | | | | | |
| Fiskeboller/fiskepudding o.l. | | | | | | |
| Kylling/kalkun | | | | | | |
| Rent kjøtt | | | | | | |
| Pølser | | | | | | |
| Kjøttdeig, (hamburger o.l.) | | | | | | |
| Pizza | | | | | | |
| Pannekaker | | | | | | |
| Vegetarretter | | | | | | |
| Poteter | | | | | | |
| Ris, spagetti, pasta | | | | | | |

+

38. Hvor ofte spiser barnet ditt vanligvis følgende? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje.)

+

+

| Grønnsaker og frukt | Aldri | 1-3 ganger per mnd. eller sjeldnere | 1-2 ganger per uke | 3-4 ganger per uke | 5-6 ganger per uke | 1 gang per dag eller oftere |
|---|-------|--|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|
| Gulrot | | | | | | |
| Kålrot | | | | | | |
| Kål, blomkål, brokkoli | | | | | | |
| Spinat, grønne bønner | | | | | | |
| Erter | | | | | | |
| Andre grønnsaker | | | | | | |
| Appelsin, klementiner | | | | | | |
| Banan | | | | | | |
| Eple, pære | | | | | | |
| Druer, melon | | | | | | |
| Annen frisk frukt eller bær | | | | | | |
| Økologisk dyrket frukt eller grønnsaker | | | | | | |

| 39. Hvor 02/01/08 39. Hvor ofte spiser barnet ditt vanligv | vis følge | nde? (Sett ett kryss f | or hver linje.) | | | + |
|---|-----------|--|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|
| Godteri og snacks | Aldri | 1-3 ganger per mnd. eller sjeldnere | 1-2 ganger per uke | 3-4 ganger per uke | 5-6 ganger per uke | 1 gang per dag eller oftere |
| Boller/vafler/kaker | | | | | | |
| ls og melkedesserter | | | | | | |
| Siokolade, sukkertøv/smågodt | | | | | | |
| Peanøtter | | | | | | |
| Pototobios o L | | | | | | |
| Potetchips 0.1. | | | | | | |
| + 40. Hvor ofte spiser barnet ditt vanlig | vis følge | nde måltider samme | n med familien | ? (Sett ett kryss fo | r hver linje.) | |
| • | | 1-3 ganger per mnd | 1-2 ganger | 3-4 ganger | 5-6 ganger | |
| | Aldri | eller sjeldnere | per uke | per uke | per uke | Daglig |
| Frokost | | | | | | |
| Middag | | | | | | |
| Kveldemet | | | | | | |
| Kveldsmat | | | | | | |
| 41. Tar barnet ditt vanligvis følgende? | (Sett et | t kryss for hver linje.) | + | | | |
| Kosttilskudd | Nei | Ja, av | og til | Ja, daglig | | |
| Tran | | | | | | |
| Andre fiskeoljer/omega-3 | | |] | | | |
| Multivitamintilskudd | | |] | | | |
| Hvis ja, navn på multivitamintilskudd | | | | | | |
| Annet kosttilskudd | | |] | | | |
| Hvis ja, navn på annet kosttilskudd: | | | | | | |
| | | Komm | entarer | | | |
| | | Konnin | Cintarer | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Har du hi | isket. | å fylle ut dato f | or utfulling | av skiema nå | side 1? | |
| | 101000 | a igno ur uaro i | or a rynnig | at orgonia pa | 5100 11 | |
| Tusen takk for at dere | e forte | batt vil være m | ed i Den no | rske mor og l | parn undere | økelsen! |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | + |

Appendix II

Questionnaire from the Youth Health Surveys (YHS)

| Etikett | U Helse- undersøkelsen | |
|---|---|--|
| | T Dato for utfylling: Dag Måned År | |
| 1. EGEN HELSE | U2. TANNHELSE | |
| Hvordan er helsen din nå? (Sett bare ett kryss) Dårlig Ikke helt god God Svært god 1 2 3 4 | 2.1 Mener du at du har bedre eller dårligere tenner enn andre ungdommer på din alder? (Sett bare ett kryss) Bedre Som de fleste Dårligere Vet ikke | |
| 2 Har du, eller har du hatt? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA NE Astma | 2.2 Bryr du deg om at du har fine tenner? <i>(Sett bare ett kryss)</i> | |
| Høysnue (pollenallergi, allergisk reaksjon, rennende nese, svie i øynene) | Ja, mye 1 Ja, litt 2 Nei 3 2.3 Hvor ofte pusser du tennene dine? <i>(Sett bare ett kryss)</i> | |
| Eksem | Flere ganger En gang Annenhver Sjeldnere enn om dagen om dagen dag annenhver dag | |
| 3 Har du de siste 12 mnd hatt? (Sett ett kruss for hver linie) | | |
| Ørebetennelse | 2.4 Har du hatt tannverk på grunn av hull? (Sett eventuelt flere kryss Ja, men før jeg Ja, etter at jeg Nei. Vet | |
| Halsbetennelse (minst 3 ganger) | begynte på skolen begynte på skolen aldri ikke | |
| Bronkitt eller lungebetennelse | | |
| Peykisk plage som det er sekt hiele for | U3. MOSJON OG FYSISK AKTIVITET | |
| | 3.1 Utenom skoletid: Hvor mange | |
| | slik at du blir andpusten eller svett? ganger pr. uke | |
| | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer eller mer | |
| Har du folgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Bevegelseshemming | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? | |
| Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, itt mye Bevegelseshemming | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? (Individuelt eller på lag) 3.4 Bruker du naturen (skog og mark) til ture? Aldri Ja, mindre enn Ja, 1 gang i | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Iit mye Bevegelseshemming. Iit Iit Nedsatt syn Iit Iit Nedsatt hørsel Iit Iit 5 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter i? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA NE | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? (Individuelt eller på lag) 3.4 5 6 JA NEI 3.4 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? (Individuelt eller på lag) 3.4 Bruker du naturen (skog og mark) til turer? Aldri Ja, mindre enn Ja, 1 gang i 1 gang i måneden måneden eller mer Sommer: 1 2 3 | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) litt mye Bevegelseshemming Image: Setter s | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? Ja, NEI JA NEI 3.4 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? Ja, Mindre enn Ja, 1 gang i JA, Mindre enn Ja, and and måneden eller mer Ja, and and eller mer 1 2 3 Ja Ja Vinter: 1 2 3 | |
| 4 Har du folgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, 4 Har du folgende funksjonshemming? Iiit mye Bevegelseshemming Iiit Iiit mye Bevegelseshemming Iiit Iiit Iiit Iiit Nedsatt syn Iiit Iiit Iiit Iiit Iiit Nedsatt hørsel Iiit Iiit </td <td> 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? (Individuelt eller på lag) 3.4 Bruker du naturen (skog og mark) til turer? Aldri Ja, mindre enn Ja, 1 gang i 1 gang i måneden eller mer 1 2 3 3.5 Utenom skoletid: Hvor mange timer pr. skoledag (mandag til fredag) sitter du i gjennomsnitt foran TV, video og/eller PC (spill og internett)? </td> | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? (Individuelt eller på lag) 3.4 Bruker du naturen (skog og mark) til turer? Aldri Ja, mindre enn Ja, 1 gang i 1 gang i måneden eller mer 1 2 3 3.5 Utenom skoletid: Hvor mange timer pr. skoledag (mandag til fredag) sitter du i gjennomsnitt foran TV, video og/eller PC (spill og internett)? | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, 9 Bevegelseshemming. Iitt mye 9 Bevegelseshemming. Iitt Iitt 10 Nedsatt syn Iitt Iitt 11 Nedsatt hørsel Iitt Iitt 12 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter i? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA 12 Hode (hodepine, migrene e.l.) Iitt Iitt Iitt 12 Nakke/skuldre Iitt Iitt Iitt 13 Nakke/skuldre Iitt Iitt Iitt 14 Mage Iitt Iitt Iitt | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? 3.4 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? 3.4 Bruker du naturen (skog og mark) til turer? Aldri Ja, mindre enn Ja, 1 gang i 1 gang i måneden måneden eller mer 1 2 3 3.5 Utenom skoletid: Hvor mange timer pr. skoledag (mandag til fredag) sitter du i gjennomsnitt foran TV, video og/eller PC (spill og internett)? Inntil 1 time 1-2 timer 3-5 timer Mer enn 5 timer | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Bevegelseshemming. Itt Itt Bevegelseshemming. Itt Itt Nedsatt syn Itt Itt Nedsatt hørsel Itt Itt 5 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter i? JA Plade (hodepine, migrene e.l.) Itt Itt Nakke/skuldre Itt Itt Armer/ben/knær Itt Itt Bage Itt Itt | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? | |
| 4 Har du folgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) litt mye Bevegelseshemming. Image Image Image Nedsatt syn Image Image Image Image Nedsatt hørsel Image Image Image Image Image 5 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter i? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA NE 6 Hode (hodepine, migrene e.l.) Image Image Image Nakke/skuldre Image Image Image Image Rygg Image Image Imagee Imagee Imagee Hvis du svarte «NEI» på alle sparsmålene under 1 5: Hoop til 12 Imagee Imagee Imagee Imagee Hvis du svarte «NEI» på alle sparsmålene under 1 5: Hoop til 12 Imagee Ima | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI JA NEI JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? (Individuelt eller på lag) 3.4 ja mindre enn Ja, 1 gang i lagan i måneden eller mer Ja Midri Ja, mindre enn Ja, 1 gang i lagan i måneden eller mer Sommer: 1 2 3 Vinter: 1 2 3 Vinter: 1 2 3 Sommer: 1 2 3 Vinter: 1 2 3 Vinter: 1 2 3 Sommer: 1 2 3 Vinter: 3.5 Utenom skoletid: Hvor mange t | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, Bevegelseshemming. Itt Itt mye Bevegelseshemming. Itt Itt Itt Nedsatt syn Itt Itt Itt Nedsatt hørsel Itt Itt Itt 5 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært Ja NE 6 Hode (hodepine, migrene e.l.) JA NE Nakke/skuldre Itt Itt Armer/ben/knær Itt Itt Mage Itt Itt Hvis du svarte «NEI» på alle spørsmålene under 1.5: Hopp til U2 Itt | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI Ja midee end konkurranseidrett? Ja midee end konkurranseidrett? Ja midee end mandeen eller mer Sommer: 1 2 3 Vinter: 1 2 3 JUtenom skoleti | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, Bevegelseshemming. Itt mye Bevegelseshemming. Itt Itt mye Nedsatt syn Itt Itt Itt mye Nedsatt hørsel Itt | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI Ja Midre enn Ja, 1 gang i 1 gang imánede måneden eller mer Sommer: 1 2 3 | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, Bevegelseshemming. Itt mye Bevegelseshemming. Itt Itt Nedsatt syn Itt Itt Nedsatt hørsel Itt Itt Nedsatt hørsel Itt Itt 5 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter i? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA Hode (hodepine, migrene e.l.) Itt Itt Nakke/skuldre Itt Itt Armer/ben/knær Itt Itt Mage Itt Itt Hvis du svarte «NEI» på alle spørsmålene under 1.5: Hopp til U2 Itt 6 Har disse smertene ført til at du har vært hjemme fra skolen? Oppgi også ca. antall skoledager de siste 12 mnd: | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI Ja Mindre en Ja Mindre en Ja Mindre en <td colspan<="" td=""></td> | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) litt mye Bevegelseshemming. Image Image Image Nedsatt syn Image Image Image Image 5 Har du I løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter i? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA NE 6 Hode (hodepine, migrene e.l.) Image Image Image Nakke/skuldre Image Image Image Image Armer/ben/knær Image Image Image Image Hvis du svarte «NEI» på alle spørsmålene under 1.5: Hopp til U2 Image Image Image 6 Har disse smertene ført til at du har vært hjemme fra skolen? Oppgi også ca. antall skoledager de siste 12 mnd: (Sett bare ett kryss) Ja, 1-2 Ja, 3-5 Ja, 6-10 Ja, mer enn | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI Ja I agang i maneden maneden eller mer Ja I agang i maneden eller mer Sommer: 1 2 3 Vinter: 1 2 3 J. Utenom skoletid: Hvor mange timer pr. skoledag. | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) litt mye Bevegelseshemming. Image Image Image Nedsatt syn Image Image Image Image S Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter i? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA NE Hode (hodepine, migrene e.l.) Image Image Image Image Nakke/skuldre Image Image Image Image Image Rygg Image | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? | |
| 4 Har du folgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Iitt mye Bevegelseshemming. Image Image Image Nedsatt syn Image Image Image Image Nedsatt hørsel Image Image Image Image Image 5 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter I? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA NE Hode (hodepine, migrene e.l.) Image Image Image Image Nakke/skuldre Image Image Image Image Image Mage Image Image Image Image Image Image Image Hvis du svarte «NEI» på alle spørsmålene under 1.5: Hopp til U2 Image | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) litt mye Bevegelseshemming. Image Image Nedsatt syn Image Image Nedsatt hørsel Image Image 5 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært JA plaget med smerter i? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA Hode (hodepine, migrene e.l.) Image Nakke/skuldre Image Armer/ben/knær Image Hvis du svarte «NEI» på alle spørsmålene under 1.5: Hopp til U2 6 Har disse smertene ført til at du har vært hjemme fra skolen? Oppgi også ca. antall skoledager de siste 12 mnd: (Sett bare ett kryss) Ja, 1-2 Ja, 1-3 Ja, 1-4 Ja, 1-5 Ja, 1-7 Ja, 1-7 Ja, 1-8 Ja, 1-7 Ja, 1-7 Ja, 1-8 Ja, 1-7 Ja, 1-7 Ja, 1-8 | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? 1 1 (Individuelt eller på lag) 3.4 5 6 JA NEI JA Stinformerin Ja, Igang indiancelen eller mer </td | |
| 4 Har du folgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) litt mye Bevegelseshemming. Image Image Nedsatt syn Image Image 5 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter i? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA NE Hode (hodepine, migrene e.l.) Image Nakke/skuldre Image Armer/ben/knær Image Hvis du svarte «NEI» på alle spørsmålene under 1.5: Hopp til U2 6 Har disse smertene fort til at du har vært hjemme fra skolen? Oppgi også ca. antall skoledager de siste 12 mnd: (Sett bare ett kryss) Ja, 1-2 Ja, 1-2 Ja, 2 Ja 4 JA Nei dager Ja JA Nei dager Ja JA Nei dager Ja Ja <td>3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? 1</td> | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? 1 | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Iitt mye Bevegelseshemming. Impe Impe Nedsatt syn Impe Impe Nedsatt hørsel Impe Impe 5 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter i? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA 6 Hode (hødepine, migrene e.l.) Impe Nakke/skuldre Impe Armer/ben/knær Impe Mage Impe Rygg. Impe Hvis du svarte «NEI» på alle spørsmålene under 1.5: Hopp til UZ 6 Har disse smertene ført til at du har vært hjemme fra skolen? Oppgi også ca. antall skoledager de siste 12 mnd: (Sett bare ett kryss) Ja, 1-2 Ja, 3-5 Ja, 6-10 Ja, mer enn Nei dager dager dager dager 10 dager I Impe Impe Ja Ja Ja 7 Har smertene ført til redusert aktivitet i fritida? Impe Ja Ja 1 Impe S Ja Ja S | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? | |
| 4 Har du følgende funksjonshemming? Nei Ja, Ja, (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Bevegelseshemming. III III Bevegelseshemming. III III Nedsatt syn III III Nedsatt hørsel IIII S Har du i løpet av de siste 12 mnd flere ganger vært plaget med smerter i? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) JA Hode (hodepine, migrene e.l.) IIIII Nakke/skuldre IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII | 3.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 1 2 3 4 5 6 JA NEI 3.3 Driver du med konkurranseidrett? | |

| 4.1 | | EEH OG | DUP | | 00. | Mar, ankke og spisevaner (iorisetteise) |
|----------|---|---|---|---|---|--|
| | Røyker du, eller har du røykt? (| (Sett bare et | tt kryss) | | 5.2 | Hvor mye drikker du vanligvis av følgende? |
| | Nei, aldri Ja, men jeg har sluttet | Ja, a | av og til 3 | Ja, hver dag | | (Sett ett kryss pr. linje) (1/2 liter = 3 glass) Sjelden 1-6 1 glass 2-3 4 glass /aldri glass pr.dag glass el.mer pr.dag pr.dag |
| | Hvis du har svart «NEI, ALDRI»: | hopp til pkt. | 4.3 | Т | | Helmelk, kefir, yoghurt |
| | | | | | | Lettmelk, cultura, lettyoghurt |
| 1.2 | Hvor gammel var du da du begy | ynte å røyk | e? | år | | Skummet melk (sur/søt) |
| 1.3 | Bruker du eller har du brukt sni lignende? (Sett hare ett kryss) | us, skrå elle | er | | | |
| | Nei, aldri Ja, men jeg har sluttet | Ja, av og til | Ja, hve | er dag | | |
| | 1 2 | 3 | | 4 | | |
| 1.4 | Røyker noen av de du bor samt (Sett ett eller flere kryss) | men med? | | | | Vann |
| | Ja, mor Ja, far Ja, søsken | Ja, andre | Nei | | 5.3 | Hva slags fett bruker du oftest på brødet? |
| | | | Δ. | | | (Sett bare ett kryss) Smor/hard Myk/lett Oljer Bruker margarin margarin ikke |
| 15 | Har du noen gang drukket alko | hol2 | JA | | E 4 | |
| | (f.eks. alkoholholdig øl, rusbrus, v eller hjemmebrent) | vin, brennevi | in | | 5.4 | (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Sjelden 1-2 3-4 5-6 Hve |
| | Hvis du svarte «NEI»: honn til pkt | + 1 9 | | | | /aidn gr.uke pr.uke pr.uke |
| | Hvis du svarte «NEI», hopp til pkt | 1. 4.0 | | | | |
| .6 | Har du noen gang drukket så m at du har vært beruset (full)? (S | nye alkohol Sett bare ett | kryss) | | | |
| | Nei, Ja, Ja, Ja, | Ja, | Ja, n | ner | | |
| | | | | | 5.5 | Hvor mye penger bruker du <u>i uka</u> på snop, snacks, cola/brus og gatekjøkkenmat? (Sett bare ett kryss) |
| _ | | | | . n. | | 0-25 kr 26-50 kr 51-100 kr 101-150 kr 151-200 kr over 200 |
| .7 | Omtrent hvor ofte har du i løpet året drukket alkohol? (Sett bare | t av det sist e ett kryss) | te | | 5.6 | 1 2 3 4 5 Bruker du følgende kosttilskudd: Ja daglig Iblant Nei |
| | 4-7 ganger 2-3 ganger | ca. 1 gang | 2-3 gang | ger | | Tran, trankapsler, fiskeoljekapsler? |
| | | iuka | pr. mán | ed | | Vitamin- og/eller mineraltilskudd? |
| | | | L 4 | | | |
| | Omtrant 1 gang Maan (6 ganger 1 | les Ildes deute | line I la | a alalah | 5.7 | Har du noen gang prøvd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) |
| | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger H i måneden siste år | Har ikke druk alkohol siste | ket Har år drukke | r aldri et alkohol | 5.7 | Har du noen gang prøvd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden |
| | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F i måneden siste år a | Har ikke druk alkohol siste | ket Har år drukke [| r aldri et alkohol 8 T | 5.7 | Har du noen gang prøvd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt, 5.9: |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F i måneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping | Har ikke druk alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S | ket Han år drukke [ett bare ett | r aldri et alkohol 8 T kryss) | 5.7 | Har du noen gang prøvd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger H i måneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, flere Ja aldri gang ganger det | Har ikke drukl alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t recelmessio | ket Har år drukke [Sett bare ett | r aldri tt alkohol 8 T r kryss) | 5.7 | Har du noen gang prøvd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Ofte Alltid |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F i måneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, flere Ja aldri gang ganger det | Har ikke druk alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig | ket Har år drukke [tett bare ett | r aldri t alkohol 8 <i>kryss)</i> | 5.7 | Har du noen gang prøvd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Ofte Alltid Jeg spiser mindre |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang i måneden Noen få ganger siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, flere aldri gang Ja 1 2 3 | Har ikke druki alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 | ket Har år drukke [tett bare ett | r aldri et alkohol 8 T 9 kryss) | 5.7 | Har du noen gang prøvd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Ofte Alltid Jeg spiser mindre |
| l.8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F imåneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en aldri gang 1 2 3 | Har ikke druki alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 SPISEVA | ket Haa år drukke [eett bare ett | r aldri tt alkohol 8 T kryss) | 5.7 | Har du noen gang prøvd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Ofte Alltid Jeg spiser mindre |
| J.8 | Omtrent 1 gang i måneden Noen få ganger siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, flere Ja aldri gang ganger det 1 1 1 2 3 MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d | Har ikke druki alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 5 PISEVAI disse matva | ket Haa år drukke Eett bare ett NER rene? | r aldri at alkohol 8 T kryss) | 5.7 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Jeg spiser mindre Jeg faster Jeg kaster opp Jeg kaster opp Jeg hruker avføringspiller eller |
| J.8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F imåneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en aldri gang 1 2 3 MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) | Har ikke druki alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker tregelmessig 4 PISEVAI lisse matva | ket Haa år drukke [eett bare ett NER rene? | r aldri ot alkohol 8 T 9 kryss) | 5.7 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Ofte Alltid Jeg spiser mindre Julition Jeg faster |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang i måneden Noen få ganger F siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, flere Ja aldri gang ganger det 1 Ja 1 2 3 MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Sjelden 1- /aldri pr. | Har ikke druki alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 SPISEVAI disse matva -3 g. 1-3 g. mnd pruke | ket Haa år drukke [eett bare ett NER rene? 4-6 g. 1-2 pr.uke pr.c | r aldri at alkohol a 8 <i>kryss)</i> | 5.7 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Jeg spiser mindre Jeg faster Jeg trener mer Jeg bruker avføringspiller eller vandrivende midler Jeg tar mettende eller sult-demende niller |
| .8 .1 | Omtrent 1 gang i måneden Noen få ganger siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, flere Ja aldri gang ganger det 1 Ja 1 2 3 MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Sjelden 1- /aldri pr. Frukt, bær [[| Aar ikke druk alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 SPISEVAI lisse matva -3 g. 1-3 g. pr.uke | ket Haa år drukke [bett bare ett NER rene? 4-6 g. 1-2 pr.uke pr.c | r aldri et alkohol 8 T <i>kryss)</i> | 5.7 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Jeg spiser mindre Jeg trener mer Jeg kaster opp Jeg bruker avføringspiller eller vandrivende midler Jeg tar mettende eller sult-dempende piller |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F imåneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Jal, en Ja, flere Jal Jal Jal Jal MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Sjelden 1-/aldri Frukt, bær I | Aar ikke druk alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 SPISEVAI disse matva -3 g. 1-3 g. mnd pr.uke | ket Har år drukke [sett bare ett NER rene? 4-6 g. 1-2 pr.uke pr.c | r aldri t alkohol 8 T 2 kryss) | 5.7 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Jeg spiser mindre Jeg faster Jeg trener mer Jeg bruker avføringspiller eller vanndrivende midler Jeg tar mettende eller sult-dempende piller Hva veide du sist du veide deg? hele kg |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F i måneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Jala, en Ja, flere Jaldri gang gang ganger Ja 2 MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Sjelden Sjelden Prukt, bær Ost (alle typer) | Har ikke druk alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 PISEVAI lisse matva -3 g. 1-3 g. pr.uke | ket âr Har drukke i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [| r aldri et alkohol 8 T <i>kryss)</i> | 5.7 5.8 5.9 5.10 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Otte Alltid Jeg spiser mindre Jeg faster Jeg trener mer Jeg kaster opp Jeg kaster opp Jeg tar mettende eller sult-dempende piller Hvor høy var du sist du målte deg? Hvor høy var du sist du målte deg? |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F imåneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, flere Ja aldri gang ganger det 1 2 3 MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Sjelden r /aldri pr Frukt, bær Ost (alle typer) I | Aar ikke druki alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker tregelmessig 4 PISEVAI disse matva -3 g. 1-3 g. t.mnd pr.uke | ket år Hat drukke i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [| r aldri st alkohol 8 T Kryss) | 5.7 5.8 5.9 5.10 5.11 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Ofte Alltid Jeg spiser mindre Jeg faster Jeg trener mer Jeg kaster opp Jeg bruker avføringspiller eller vanndrivende midler Hva veide du sist du veide deg? Hvor høy var du sist du målte deg? Hvor høy var du sist du målte deg? Hva synes du om vekta di? (Sett bare ett kryss) |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F i måneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, en Ja, flere Ja Ja I 2 Seiden 3 MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Sjelden rrukt, bær Ost (alle typer) Poteter Kokte grønnsaker | Har ikke druki alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 SPISEVAI disse matva -3 g. 1-3 g. mnd pr.uke | ket âr Har drukke iett bare ett NER rene? 4-6 g. pr.uke pr.uke iett | r aldri et alkohol 8 T <i>kryss)</i> | 5.7 5.8 5.9 5.10 5.11 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Jeg spiser mindre Jeg faster Jeg trener mer Jeg bruker avføringspiller eller vanndrivende midler Jeg tar mettende eller sult-dempende piller Hvor hoy var du sist du welde deg? hele kg Hva synes du om vekta di? (Sett bare ett kryss) Vekta er Veier alt Veier litt Veier alt OK Veier litt |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F i måneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, en Ja, flere Ja Ja I 2 S Sielden MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linie) Sjelden 1 /aldri pr Frukt, bær [Ost (alle typer) [Rå grønnsaker/salat [| Har ikke druk alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 SPISEVAI disse matva -3 g. 1-3 g. pr.uke 2 2 3 g. 1-3 g. pr.uke 2 2 3 g. 1-3 g. 1-3 | ket âr Har drukke iett bare ett NER rene? 4-6 g. pr.uke pr.uke pr.uke | r aldri et alkohol 8 T <i>kryss)</i> | 5.7 5.8 5.9 5.10 5.11 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Otte Alltid Jeg spiser mindre Jeg faster Jeg trener mer Jeg kaster opp Jeg kaster opp Jeg tar mettende eller suit-dempende piller Hvor hoy var du sist du målte deg? Hvor hoy var du sist du målte deg? Vekta er Veier litt Veier alt for lite Jer litt Veier alt for mye Setter bare ett kryss |
| J.8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F i måneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, en Ja, flere Ja Ja, en Ja Ja Ja Par du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, en Ja, flere Ja Ja I 2 Sigedan 1 /addri pr Frukt, bær Sigelden /addri pr Frukt, bær Øst (alle typer) Poteter Rå grønnsaker/salat Feit fisk (f.eks. laks, orret makrell | Har ikke druki alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 SPISEVAI disse matva -3 g. 1-3 g. pr.uke 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | ket år Har drukke i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [| r aldri et alkohol 8 T <i>kryss</i>) | 5.7 5.8 5.9 5.10 5.11 5.12 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Jeg spiser mindre Jeg faster Jeg trener mer Jeg bruker avføringspiller eller vanndrivende midler Jeg tar mettende eller sult-dempende piller Hvor hoy var du sist du veide deg? hele kg Hva synes du om vekta di? (Sett bare ett kryss) Vekta er Veier alt Veier litt Veier alt Neier litt veier alt Jeg bryr meg mye om vekta mi. (Sett bare ett kryss) |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F i måneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, en Ja, flere Ja Ja I 2 MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Sjelden Sjelden Ost (alle typer) Rå grønnsaker/salat Rå grønnsaker/salat Siekelade/ergågedt | Har ikke druk alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker regelmessig 4 PISEVAI disse matva -3 g. 1-3 g. c.mnd pr.uke 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | ket ar Har Har drukke i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [i [| r aldri et alkohol 8 T kryss) | 5.7 5.8 5.9 5.10 5.11 5.12 5.13 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Ofte Alltid Jeg spiser mindre Jeg trener mer Jeg trener mer Jeg kaster opp Jeg bruker avføringspiller eller vanndrivende midler Hva veide du sist du veide deg? Hvor høy var du sist du målte deg? Hvor høy var du sist du målte deg? hele cm Hva synes du om vekta di? (Sett bare ett kryss) Vekta er Veier litt Veier alt for lite for lite Jeg bryr meg mye om vekta mi. (Sett bare ett kryss) Enig Litt enig Ikke enig Hvilken vekt ville du vært tilfreds |
| .8 | Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger F i måneden siste år 5 6 Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, en Ja, flere Ja Ja I 2 MAT, DRIKKE OG S Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Sjelden Sielden Jadri pr Frukt, bær Ost (alle typer) Rå grønnsaker/salat Feit fisk (f.eks. laks, ørret, makrell, sild) Sjokolade/smågodt | Har ikke druk alkohol siste 7 gmidler? (S a, jeg bruker t regelmessig 4 BPISEVAI disse matva -3 g. 1-3 g. pr.uke 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | ket år Har drukke iett bare ett NER rene? 4-6 g. pr.uke 0 | r aldri t alkohol 8 7 7 7 7 7 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 | 5.7 5.8 5.9 5.10 5.11 5.12 5.13 | Har du noen gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, nå Ja, hele tiden 1 2 3 4 Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9: Hva har du gjort for å slanke deg? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Ofte Alltid Jeg spiser mindre |
U6. PÅKJENNINGER OG MESTRING

| 6.1 | Under finner du en liste over ulike plage noe av dette <u>den siste uken</u> (til og med i (Sett ett kryss for hver linie) | r. Ha dag) | r du op)? | plevd | Vald |
|-----|--|---------------|---------------|--------|-------------|
| | pl | aget | plaget | Ganske | Veldig |
| | Plutselig frykt uten grunn | | | | |
| | Føler deg redd eller engstelig | | | | |
| | Matthet eller svimmelhet | | | | |
| | Føler deg anspent eller oppjaget | | | | Π |
| | Lett for å klandre deg selv | Π | | | |
| | Søvnproblemer | | | | |
| | Nedtrykt, tungsindig (trist) | | | | |
| | Følelse av å være unyttig, lite verd | | | | |
| | Følelse av at alt er et slit | | | | |
| | Følelse av håpløshet mht. framtida | | | | |
| | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| 6.2 | (Sett ett kryss for hver linie) | | Nokoż | Makaá | Halt |
| | Jeg klarer alltid å løse vanskelige problemer hvis jeg prøver hardt nok | galt | galt | riktig | riktig |
| | Hvis noen motarbeider meg, så kan jeg finne måter og veier for å få det som jeg vil | | | | |
| | Hvis jeg har et problem og står helt fast, så finner jeg vanligvis en vei ut | | | | |
| | Jeg føler meg trygg på at jeg ville kunne takle uventede hendelser på en effektiv måte | | | | |
| | Jeg beholder roen når jeg møter vanskeligheter, fordi jeg stoler på mine evner til å mestre/få til ting | | 2 | 3 | |
| 6.3 | Har du i løpet av de <u>siste 12 mnd</u> selv opplevd noe av følgende? | | 2 | | 4 |
| | (Sett ett kryss for fiver inije) | | JA | NEI | |
| | Foreldre (foresatte) har blitt arbeidsløse eller uføretrygdet | | 🗆 | | |
| | Alvorlig sykdom eller skade hos deg selv | | | | |
| | Alvorlig sykdom eller skade hos noen som står deg nær | | 🗌 | | |
| | Dødsfall hos noen som sto deg nær | | 🗌 | | |
| | Seksuelle overgrep (f.eks. blotting, beføling, ufrivillig samleie m.m.) | | 🗌 | | |
| 6.4 | Har du opplevd noe av følgende? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) | | Nei | Ja, av | Ja, ofte |
| | Stort arbeidspress på skolen | | | | |
| | Stort press fra andre for å lykkes/ gjøre det bra på skolen | | | | |
| | Store vansker med å konsentrere deg i time | n | | | |
| | Store vansker med å forstå læreren når hun/han underviser | | | | |
| | | | - Unit | 12.12 | |
| 6.5 | Har fagpersonell sagt at du har eller har hatt lese- og skrivevansker. (Sett bare ett ka | vss) | | т | |
| | Ja, store Ja, middels Ja, lette Nei | ,/ | | N. | |
| | | 4 | | | |

(Sett bare ett kryss) Aldri

1

Av og til

2

Omtrent en

gang i uka

3

Flere ganger i uka

4

U7. BRUK AV HELSETJENESTER

| 7.1 | Har du de siste 12 mnd. selv brukt?: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) | Ingen ganger | 1-3 ganger | 4 ganger eller mer |
|-----|--|----------------------------|---------------|-----------------------|
| | Skolehelsetjenesten | | | |
| | Helsestasjon for ungdom | | | |
| | Vanlig lege (Allmennpraktiserende lege) | | Π | |
| | PP-tienesten | | | |
| | Psykolog eller psykiater (privat eller på poliklinikk) | | | |
| | Familierådgivning | | | |
| | Annen spesialist (privat eller på poliklinikk) | | | |
| | Legevakt (privat eller offentlig) | | | |
| | Sykebusinnleggelse | | | |
| | Sosialtienesten i kommunen | | | |
| | Susiationality | | | |
| | | | | |
| | lanniege/skoletanniege | | | |
| | Alternativ behandler | Ц | | |
| U8 | . UTDANNING OG UTDANN | ING | SPLA | NER |
| 8.1 | Hva er den høyeste utdanning du har ter (Sett bare ett kryss) | nkt å ta | ? | |
| | Universitet eller høyskoleutdanning av høye (F.eks. lektor, advokat, sivilingeniør, tannleg psykolog, siviløkonom) | ere grad le, lege, | | 🗌 1 |
| • | Universitet eller høyskoleutdanning <u>på mell</u> (F.eks. cand.mag., lærer, sosionom, sykeple ingeniør, journalist) | omnivå eier, pol | liti, | 🗌 2 |
| | Videregående allmennfaglig/økonomisk adr | ninistra | tive fag | 3 |
| | Yrkesfaglig utdanning på videregående sko (kokk, frisør, byggfag, elektrofag, helse- og | le sosialfa | g o.l.) | 4 |
| | Ett år på videregående skole | | | |
| | Annet: | | | 6 |
| | Har ikke bestemt meg | | | 7 |
| 8.2 | Hvor mye egne penger brukte du siste uke (Småinnkjøp pluss større gjenstander som f.eks. musikkanlegg o.l.) | ?kr | JA | NEI |
| 8.3 | Har du lønnet arbeid i løpet av skoleåret? Hvis du svarte «JA»: | | . 🗆 | |
| | Hvor mange timer i uka arbeider du? ca. | | nele tin | ner |
| | Hvor mye tjener du i gjennomsnitt pr. måned på dette arbeidet? kr | | | |
| 8.4 | Hvilken karakter fikk du siste gangen i karakterboken? (Sett bare inn <u>hele</u> tallkara | akterer) | | |
| | Matte Norsk skriftlig Engelsk Sar | mfunnst | lag | |
| | | Ц | | |
| U9 | . OPPVEKST OG TILHØRIG | HET | 2.04 | |
| | files to be seen and seen and the second | | 1 Park | 1 |
| 9.1 | Hvor lenge har du bodd i Norge? | nele | år | |
| 9.2 | Hvor lenge har du bodd der du bor nå? | | hele | år |
| 9.3 | Har du flyttet i løpet av de siste 5 årene? Nei Ja, en gang Ja, 2-4 ganger | <i>(Sett I</i> Ja, 5 ga | bare ett | kryss) er flere |
| | | | 4 | |
| 9.4 | Mine foreldre er: (Sett bare ett kryss) Gift/samboere Ugift Skilt/separert En el | ler begg | e er død | e Annet |
| 9.5 | Hvor er dine foreldre født? | | | |

| | Norge | Annet land | Hvilket land: | |
|------|-------|------------|---------------|---|
| Far: | | | Far: | _ |
| Mor: | | | Mor: | |

| U9. | Oppvekst og tilhørighet (fortsettelse) | U11 | . SEKSUELL AD | FERD OG PR | EVEN | ISJO | N |
|------|--|-----------|--|---|----------------------|-----------------------|----------|
| 9.6 | Jeg tror vår familie, sett i forhold til andre i Norge, har: | Contra la | Outstation Million of the Alley | Ja, med | Ja, i | med | Nei |
| | (Sett bare ett kryss) Dàrlig råd Middels råd God råd Svært god råd | 11.1 | Har du noen gang hatt s | amleie? | | | |
| | | | Hvis du svarte «NEI»; hop | p til U12 | 1 | - | |
| 9.7 | Er far og/eller mor i arbeid nå? | 11.2 | Alder første gang? | J | eg var | | år |
| | Ja, Ja, Arbeidsløs/ Hjemme- Går på skole/ Død | 11.3 | Brukte du/dere prevensi | on ved siste samle | ele? | | |
| | Far: 1 2 3 4 5 6 | | Nei Ja, kondom Ja, p | p-pille/p-sprøyte Ja, a | nnet Ve | et ikke | |
| | | | 1 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | |
| | Mor: $1 2 3 4 5 6$ | 11.4 | Har du noan gang blitt gr | avid/giort ei lente g | ravid? | | Vet IK |
| | | 11.4 | That du noen gang bint gr | avia/gjoit ei jente gi | avid: [| | |
| | Far: Skriv kort hva han gjør på jobben: | | Hvis du svarte «JA»; | | | | 1 |
| | | | Hvor gammel var du da | dette skjedde? J | eg var | | år |
| | Mor: | | | | | JA NEI | Vet ikk |
| | Skriv kort hva hun gjør på jobben: | - | Ble det utført abort? | | [| | |
| | | U12 | 2. BRUK AV MED | ISINER M.M | 100 | | |
| U1(| D. FAMILIE OG VENNER | 12.1 | Hvor ofte har du i løpet | av de 4 siste uken | e brukt | | |
| 10.1 | Hvem bor du sammen med nå? (Sett bare ett kryss) | | følgende medisiner? (S Med medisiner mener vi | ett ett kryss for hver her medisiner kiøpt i | r linje) på apote | ek. | |
| | (la ikke med søsken og halvsøsken.) Mor og far Bare mor Bare far Omtrent like mye hos mor og far | | Kosttilskudd og vitaminer | regnes i <u>kke</u> med he | er. | Sieldeer | Ikko hru |
| | | | | Aldri Daolia da | en ikke | enn hver | siste |
| | Mor el. far og ny samboer el. ektefelle Fosterforeldre Andre | | Smertestillende uten rese | apt | -gig | | |
| | 5 6 7 | | Cmortostillanda nå rossa | | | | |
| 0.2 | Hvor mange søsken eller halvsøsken | | Smertestillende på resep | | | | |
| | bor du sammen med? Antall søsken | | Allergi-medisin | | | | |
| 0.3 | Hvor mange av disse er like gamle | | Astma-medisin | [] [] [| | | |
| 0.4 | | | Sovemedisin | 🗆 🔲 [| | | |
| 10.4 | (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Helt Delvis Delvis Helt | | Beroligende medisin | 0 0 1 | | | |
| | | | Medicin mot depresion | | | | |
| | | | Mediain mot depresjon | | | | |
| | | | Annen medisin på resept | 1 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| | Familien legger vekt på mine meninger | 12.2 | Skriv navnet på medisir | nene som du har ki | rysset a | av for | |
| | Jeg betyr mye for familien min | | (sykdom eller symptom | n var til at du tok m i): | neaisine | ene | |
| | Jeg kan regne med familien min når jeg trenger hjelp | | (Kryss av for hvor lenge of | du har brukt medisin | nen) H | ivor leng prukt me | disinen? |
| 10 5 | 1 2 3 4 | | Navn på medisinen: | Grunn til bruk | k | Inntil | Ett år |
| 10.5 | dine foreldre? Stemmer Stemmer Stemmer | | (eα navn pr. linje): | av medisinen | | 1 ar | eller me |
| | (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) meget ganske ikke sænig ikke i det godt godt hele tatt | | 100 million (1997) | al presentation of the | | | |
| | er og hva jeg gjør i helgene | | - Change | | | | |
| | Foreldrene mine vet hvor jeg er | | | | | | |
| | og hva jeg gjør på hverdagene | | | | | | |
| | Foreldrene mine vet hvem jeg | | Dersom det ikke er nok plass he | er, kan du fortsette på eg | let ark sor | m au legg | jer vea. |
| | er sammen med i fritida | | SPØRSMÅL TIL J | ENTENE | | - Joney I | 1 |
| | Foreldrene mine liker vennene | | | | | JA N | EI |
| | | 12.3 | Har du fått menstruasjo | n («mensen»)? | | | |
| 10.6 | Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (Sott att know for hvor linia) Helt Delvis Delvis Helt | | Hvis du svarte «NEI»; hop | pp til 12.5 | | | |
| | leg føler meg pært knyttet til vennene mine | 12.4 | Hvor gammel var du da | du fikk din første r | nonetru | acion | |
| | | 12.4 | nvoi ganniei vai uu uu | uu naa un forste i | nenstru | asjoni | |
| | | | Jeg var år | 1 | | | |
| | Jeg kan bidra/være til støtte for vennene mine. | 12 5 | Bruker du, eller har du h | orukt: | | | |
| | Jeg kan regne med vennene mine når jeg | .2.0 | (Sett ett kryss for hver linj | ie) Ná Fe | ar, men ik | kke nå | Aldri |
| | | | P-pille/minipille/ p-sprøvte | | | and the | |
| 10.7 | Hvor mange personer <u>utenfor</u> din nære familie står | | Annen prevension | | | | |
| | Har personlide problemer Antall personer | | Hvilken type prevension | n?: | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | Har praktiske problemer (f.eks. m/ skolearbeidet) Antall personer | 12.6 | Til deg som bruker n nil | lle/minipille: | 10,00 | - | |
| 8.0 | Har du selv vært utsatt for vold (blitt slått, sparket e.l.) | 12.0 | Hvilket merke bruker du | ı nå?: | | | |
| | Aldri la bare av upgdom la bare av updom og volgen | | | | | | |
| | | | 1. S. S. S. S. | | | | |
| | 6 | | | | | | |

IE 000000-1024-1 - 5.000 - Beyer-Hecos 10.00

Appendix III

Asthma groups constructed from answers on the Norwegian Mother and Child cohort study (MoBa) pilot questionnaire for 7-year old children.



Appendix IV

Annual prevalence of filling at least 1 and at least 2* prescriptions (rx) for asthma drugs in 2007. Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD).



Appendix V

Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification codes of drugs for obstructive airway diseases (R03), including asthma drugs. 4th level ATC codes.

| ATC code | Name |
|----------|---|
| R | RESPIRATORY SYSTEM |
| R03 | DRUGS FOR OBSTRUCTIVE AIRWAY DISEASES |
| R03A | ADRENERGICS, INHALANTS |
| R03AA | Alpha- and beta-adrenoreceptor agonists |
| R03AB* | Non-selective beta-adrenoreceptor agonists |
| R03AC | Selective beta-2-adrenoreceptor agonists |
| R03AH* | Combinations of adrenergics |
| R03AK | Adrenergics and other drugs for obstructive airway diseases |
| R03B | OTHER DRUGS FOR OBSTRUCTIVE AIRWAY DISEASES, INHALANTS |
| R03BA | Glucocorticoids |
| R03BB | Anticholinergics |
| R03BC | Antiallergic agents, excl. corticosteroids |
| R03BX* | Other drugs for obstructive airway diseases, inhalants |
| R03C | ADRENERGICS FOR SYSTEMIC USE |
| R03CA | Alpha- and beta-adrenoreceptor agonists |
| R03CB* | Non-selective beta-adrenoreceptor agonists |
| R03CC | Selective beta-2-adrenoreceptor agonists |
| R03CK* | Adrenergics and other drugs for obstructive airway diseases |
| R03D | OTHER SYSTEMIC DRUGS FOR OBSTRUCTIVE AIRWAY DISEASES |
| R03DA | Xanthines |
| R03DB* | Xanthines and adrenergics |
| R03DC | Leukotriene receptor antagonists |
| R03DX | Other systemic drugs for obstructive airway diseases |

* No sale registered in Norway according to statistics from wholesalers (97) and statistics from the Norwegian Prescription Database (87)